




Provide a sufficient quantity of good quality 
products at reasonable prices to our customers.

Maintain a good return on investment to our 
shareholders.

Provide our employees with reasonable 
remuneration and opportunities for personal 
development and job satisfaction.

Perform the role of a good corporate citizen and 
contribute to the public welfare. 

OUR MISSION
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the SEVENTY-NINTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING of Seprod Limited 
will be held at the Jamaica Pegasus Hotel, 81 Knutsford Boulevard, Kingston 5, on September 17, 2018, 
at 11:00 a.m., for the purpose of transacting the following business:

1. TO RECEIVE THE AUDITED ACCOUNTS AND THE REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS AND 
AUDITORS

 To consider and if thought fit pass the following resolution:
 “That the Directors’ Report, the Auditors’ Report and the Audited Accounts for the year ended 

December 31, 2017 be and are hereby adopted.”

2. TO ELECT DIRECTORS
 The Directors retiring from office by rotation pursuant to Articles 89 and 91 of the company’s Articles 

of Association a re Mr. Byron Thompson and Mrs. Melanie Subratie who, being eligible, offer 
themselves for re-election.

 To consider and if thought fit pass the following resolutions:
i) That Mr. Byron Thompson and Mrs. Melanie Subratie be re-elected en bloc.
ii) That Mr. Byron Thompson and Mrs. Melanie Subratie be re-elected Directors of the 

company.

3. TO FIX THE REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS.
 To consider and if thought fit pass the following resolution:

“That the amount shown in the Audited Accounts for the year ended 31st December, 2017 be 
and is hereby approved.”

4. TO APPOINT AUDITORS AND AUTHORIZE THE DIRECTORS TO FIX THE REMUNERATION OF 
THE AUDITORS.

 To consider and if thought fit pass the following resolutions:
i) “That PricewaterhouseCoopers having indicated their willingness to continue in office as 

Auditors be re-appointed Auditors for the ensuing year.”
ii) “That the Directors be authorized to agree on the remuneration of the auditors.”

5. TO TRANSACT ANY OTHER BUSINESS WHICH MAY PROPERLY BE TRANSACTED AT AN 
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING.

DATED this 14th day of May 2018
BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

...................................
Damion Dodd 
Secretary

A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote instead of him/her.  
A proxy need not be a member.  Proxy forms must be lodged at the Company’s registered office, 3 Felix Fox Boulevard, 
Kingston, not less than 48 hours before time of meeting.

Notice of Annual 
General Meeting
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors of Seprod Limited submit herewith 
their Annual Report and Audited Accounts for 
the year ended December 31, 2017.

FINANCIAL RESULTS 

The Group ended the year with a profit before 
tax of $939 Million and a net profit attributable 
to shareholders of $735 Million. Details of 
these results, along with a comparison with 
the previous year’s performance and the state 
of affairs of the Company, are set out in the 
Management Discussion and Analysis and the 
Financial Statements which are included as part 
of the Report.  

DIVIDEND

A dividend of sixty cents ($0.60) per ordinary 
stock unit to stockholders on record as at 19th 
June 2017 was paid on 14th July 2017. A 
further dividend of thirty-five cents ($0.35) per 
ordinary stock unit to stockholders on record 
as at 29th November 2017 was paid on 6th 
December 2017.                                                   

The Directors do not recommend any further 
payment of dividend for 2017.

DIRECTORS

In accordance with Articles 89 and 91 of the 
Company’s Articles of Association, the following 
directors are retiring from office and, being 
eligible, offer themselves for re-election:

• Mr. Byron Thompson
• Mrs. Melanie Subratie

AUDITORS

The Auditors, Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers 
have indicated their willingness to continue 
in office. The Directors recommend their re-
appointment.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board of Directors of Seprod Limited 
exercises its responsibilities for the Financial 
Statements included in this Report through 
its Audit Committee, which consists of non-
management Board members: Mrs. Melanie 
Subratie, Chairperson and members: Mr. 
Granville Marsh, Mr. Byron Thompson, Mr. 
Peter Thwaites and Mr. Nicholas Scott.

The independent accountants and internal 
auditors have full and free access to the Audit 
Committee. The Audit Committee meets 
quarterly with the independent accountants and 
the Internal Auditors, both privately and with 
management present, to discuss accounting, 
auditing and financial reporting matters.

EMPLOYEES

The Directors wish to express their appreciation 
to the employees for their loyal services 
throughout the year.

Submitted on behalf of the Board of Directors.

.......................................

P.B. Scott
CHAIRMAN
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REGISTERED OFFICE: 3 Felix Fox Boulevard, Kingston
 Tel: (876) 922-1220
 Fax: (876) 922-6948 or 922-7344
 Email: corporate@seprod.com

AUDITORS: PricewaterhouseCoopers
 Scotiabank Centre
 Corner of Duke & Port Royal Streets
 Kingston, Jamaica

ATTORNEYS:  DunnCox
 48 Duke Street
 Kingston, Jamaica

 Samuda & Johnson
 2-6 Grenada Crescent
 Kingston 5, Jamaica

BANKERS: CIBC First Caribbean International Bank
 23-27 Knutsford Boulevard
 Kingston 5

 First Global Bank
 24-48 Barbados Avenue
 Kingston 5

 National Commercial Bank Jamaica Limited
 1-7 Knutsford Boulevard
 Kingston 5, Jamaica

 Sagicor Bank
 17 Dominica Drive
 Kingston 5, Jamaica

 Citibank N.A. Jamaica
 19 Hillcrest Avenue
 Kingston 5, Jamaica

REGISTRAR AND Jamaica Central Securities Depository Limited
TRANSFER AGENTS: 40 Harbour Street
 Kingston, Jamaica

CORPORATE  DATA
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INDUSTRIAL SALES LIMITED
3 Felix Fox Boulevard, Kingston
Tel: (876) 922-1220

Distribution Outlet
107 Marcus Garvey Drive, Kingston 11
Tel: (876) 923-8953, (876) 937-7084
Fax: (876) 757-9449, (876) 923-6722

SERGE ISLAND DAIRIES LIMITED /
SERGE ISLAND FARMS LIMITED
3 Felix Fox Boulevard, Kingston
Tel: (876) 922-1220

Manufacturing Plant
Seaforth, St. Thomas
Tel: (876) 706-5844-6
Fax: (876) 706-5843

INTERNATIONAL BISCUITS LIMITED
3 Felix Fox Boulevard, Kingston
Tel: (876) 922-1220

Manufacturing Plant
2e Valentine Drive, P.O. Box 453,
Kingston 19
Tel: (876) 925-9418

CARIBBEAN PRODUCTS COMPANY 
LIMITED
3 Felix Fox Boulevard, Kingston
Tel: (876) 922-1220

Manufacturing Plant
228 Spanish Town Road, Kingston 11
Tel: (876) 923-0125-8, (876) 923-6516-8,
(876) 937-3372
Fax: (876) 923-4043

GOLDEN GROVE SUGAR COMPANY 
LIMITED
3 Felix Fox Boulevard, Kingston
Tel: (876) 922-1220

Manufacturing Plant
Duckenfield, Golden Grove P.O., St. Thomas
Tel: (876) 706-0522
Fax: (876) 706-0520

JAMAICA GRAIN & CEREALS LIMITED
3 Felix Fox Boulevard, Kingston
Tel: (876) 922-1220
Fax: (876) 967-7479

MUSSON INTERNATIONAL DAIRIES 
LIMITED
3 Felix Fox Boulevard, Kingston
Tel: (876) 922-1220

Manufacturing Plant
Bybrook, Bog Walk, St. Catherine
Tel: (876) 985-1479-83

CONTACT INFORMATION
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SHAREHOLDERS’ PROFILE
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2017

1. Musson (Jamaica) Limited * 233,747,988

2. Coconut Industry Board 163,420,345

3. Grace Kennedy Limited Pension Scheme 21,955,904

4. National Insurance Fund 15,443,045

5. Scotia Jamaica Investment Management A/C 3119 7,724,433

6. NCB Insurance Company Limited – A/C 109 4,085,146

7. Guardian Life Limited 3,055,730

8. JCSD Trustee Services Limited - Sigma Optima 2,940,097

9. Guardian Life Limited – Pension Fund 2,332,085

10. NCB Insurance Company Limited A/C WT161 2,079,210

1. Paul B. Scott               NIL

  Shareholding of connected persons 233,747,988

2. Melanie M. Subratie NIL

  Shareholding of connected persons 233,747,988

3. Byron E. Thompson 1,220,668

4. Richard R. Pandohie 400,000

5. Nicholas A. Scott NIL

  Shareholding of connected persons 103,768

6. Hugh Gentles 49,933

  Shareholding of connected persons 45,534

7. Granville E. Marsh 6,561

8. Nigel A. Clarke (Resigned March 2018) 990

9. Peter J. Thwaites NIL

10. Michael J. Subratie NIL

11. Christopher Gentles NIL

TEN LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

* - Connected Persons:  Paul B. Scott, Melanie M. Subratie

SHAREHOLDINGS OF DIRECTORS ALONG WITH THEIR CONNECTED PERSONS
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S H A R E H O L D E R S ’  P R O F I L E  C O N T ’ D

1. Marilyn Anderson NIL

2. Rupert Ashman (Retired December 2017) NIL

3. Dr. Gavin Bellamy NIL

4. Dalton Brown NIL

5. Clement Burnett (Retired December 2017) NIL

6. Angela Cooper 18,854

7. Evrol Dixon NIL

8. Damion Dodd NIL

9. Glenise Durrant-Freckleton NIL

10. Devon Francis NIL

11. Carol Gordon-Andrade NIL

12. Tricia Hill NIL

13. Kerrian Johnson NIL

14. Ryan Kirlew NIL

15. Efrain Lara NIL

16. Roger Lewis NIL

17. Milton Maragh NIL

18. Jeffrey Moss-Solomon NIL

19. Richard Pandohie 400,000

20. Dr. Patrick Sterling NIL

21. Amanda Watson NIL

SHAREHOLDINGS OF MANAGEMENT
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Corporate Governance remains a key area of focus for 
Seprod Limited and is central to the Company’s strategic 
objectives. The principles and the structure of our policy 
ensure the highest standards of transparency, oversight 
and independence, to serve the best interest of all our 
stakeholders. The practices are consistent with world 
best practices and adhere to the relevant legal and 
regulatory framework.

Our Corporate Governance Charter was established 
in December 2012 by the Board of Directors and 
reviewed in December 2016. The charter can be 
seen in more detail on the Company’s website - 
www.seprod.com

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
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CHAIRMAN’S
REPORT

In 2017, work was done to lay the foundation for 
Seprod’s future. Seprod will have three business 
lines: Ingredients, Dairy and Distribution. In 
each of these lines we will strive to build brands 
that can compete in Jamaica and abroad and 
will deliver through focus and scale, sustainable 

profit growth and improved return on 
equity.

INGREDIENTS

Jamaica Grain and Cereals Limited, 
our joint venture with Seaboard 
Corporation, commenced the 
production of flour in December 
2017. This is a significant milestone 
in our business. Jamaica Grain 
and Cereals Limited is now a 
first-class operation that provides 
flour, cornmeal and grits in bulk as 
well as consumer package sizes. 
We are excited about the future 
of this joint venture.

With renewed focus on 
ingredients, we have decided 
to divest International Biscuits 
Limited, our baking operation. 
Our objective is to work alongside 
our customers and help them 
build their businesses through the 
supply of excellent ingredients, 
not to compete with them.  We 
hope to conclude this divestment 
in 2018.P.B. Scott

CHAIRMAN
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Our sugar operation continues to provide significant challenges. While we see sugar (as a product) 
as a key component of our strategy we have found, through the hard knocks of the past 5 years, 
that the industry has significant structural deficiencies that our small operation, even with significant 
capital investment, would struggle to overcome. We can no longer sustain further losses from this 
operation and are working on a plan to reverse this loss position. Our results have been significantly 
hampered by these losses over the last few years and I can assure you they will not be in the future.

DAIRY

At the time of writing, Seprod has completed the integration of the dairy operation formerly owned 
and operated by Nestle within the Group. This operation consists of the physical assets located in 
Bog Walk (which is a world-class facility), the “Betty” brand and the “Supligen” brand in Jamaica 
and other countries (including Trinidad, The OECS, Barbados and The Dominican Republic). This 
operation compliments Seprod’s existing dairy business at Serge Island Farms and will bring 
significant synergies going forward. It also enhances our export offering as Supligen and Betty are 
iconic Jamaican brands. 

DISTRIBUTION

This third pillar of our strategy is key. There is little point in investing in brands and building first-class 
production facilities unless you can appropriately execute the distribution of your products. In 2018 
Seprod will complete the purchase of Facey Commodity Company Limited, a leading distributor 
in Jamaica. Facey’s motto, “bringing the best to you”, in tandem with that of Seprod, “made by 
Seprod must be good”, truly exemplifies the enhanced shareholder value that this acquisition will 
bring to the table. We anticipate an increase in Seprod’s equity, significantly enhanced cashflow, 
increased scale in operations, alignment of interests between supplier and distributor (currently 
Seprod sells over 60% of its products to Facey Commodity Company Limited) and an acceleration 
of important market decisions through the system. 

Our first pillar, Ingredients, has been propelled by the commencement of the production of flour 
at Jamaica Grain and Cereals Limited. The combination of the acquisition of the Supligen/Betty 
business and Facey Commodity Compay Limited will double the size of Seprod and reinforce 
the other two pillars - Dairy and Distribution. Your company will be a substantially different 
organization in the coming years.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank the management and employees of Seprod as well 
as my fellow directors for their hard work in 2017.

............................
P.B. Scott
CHAIRMAN

C H A I R M A N ’ S  R E P O R T  C O N T ’ D
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BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

P. B. Scott
CHAIRMAN

Mr. P.B. Scott is the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO) and principal shareholder of the Musson Group. His 
chairmanship extends to Musson’s subsidiaries and affiliates; 
namely Facey Group Ltd, T. Geddes Grant (Distributors) Ltd., 
General Accident Insurance Company Ltd., Seprod Ltd. and 
PBS Group Ltd. In addition to his responsibilities at Musson, 
he serves on several boards and commissions which include 
being Chairman of the Development Bank of Jamaica 
(DBJ) and Norman Manley International Airport Public 
Private Partnership and Privatisation (NMIA PPP) as well as 
a member of Tax Reform Working Group. He is also trustee 
of the American International School of Kingston (AISK). 
He serves as Honorary Consul General for the Republic 
of Guatemala to Jamaica and is a former President of the 
Private Sector Organization of Jamaica. As a keen sailor, he is 
the founder of Sail Jamaica Academy, Jamaica’s only sailing 
school. Together with his wife Jennifer an Attorney-at- Law, 
they have two children. 

Peter J. Thwaites
VICE CHAIRMAN

Mr. Thwaites is a retired Insurance 
Executive, a past President of the 
Private Sector Organisation of Jamaica 
and a past Chairman of the Electoral 
Advisory Committee, now the 
Electoral Commission of Jamaica. He 
is a Director of Crime Stop Jamaica, 
Thwaites Finson Sharp Insurance 
Brokers, Guardian General Insurance 
Jamaica, a subsidiary of Guardian 
Holdings of Trinidad and Tobago and 
Rototech International Limited.

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 7 MADE BY SEPROD, MUST BE GOOD11



Richard R. Pandohie, JP
CEO/MANAGING DIRECTOR

Mr. Pandohie has been the Chief Executive Officer and 
Managing Director of Seprod Limited since January, 
2015. He has held managerial positions in several 
corporations in the Caribbean and Central America. 
He has been the Deputy President of the Jamaica 
Manufacturers Association since 2015 and a Director 
of Red Stripe Limited since 2016. He holds an MBA 
in Corporate Finance and Operations Management 
from the McGill University and a BSc in Chemical 
Engineering from The University of the West Indies. 

Byron E. Thompson
JP, MBA

Mr. Thompson is a former Chief Executive 
Officer and Managing Director of the 
Seprod Group of Companies. He also sits 
on the Board of Seprod’s subsidiaries as 
well as the Audit Committee. He is also a 
Director of Eppley Limited and the Salvation 
Army and a Council member of the Bureau 
of Standards Advisory Board. Mr. Thompson 
holds a Bachelor of Science Degree in 
Chemistry and Geology from the University 
of the West Indies and an MBA from Barry 
University, Florida, USA.

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 7MADE BY SEPROD, MUST BE GOOD 12



Melanie M. Subratie,
BSc. (Hons.)

Mrs. Subratie is an honours graduate of the London 
School of Economics, and is currently the Chairman 
of Transaction Epins Limited, Productive Business 
Solutions (Jamaica) Limited, Musson Foundation 
and the Seprod Foundation. She is Vice Chairman 
of General Accident Insurance Company Limited 
and Musson (Jamaica) Limited. She serves on all 
the Boards of the subsidiaries of the Musson Group. 
She returned to Jamaica over ten years ago, after 
working at the Financial Services Division of Deloitte 
& Touche, U.K. as well as for startup political newswire 
service DeHavilland.

Granville E. Marsh
JP 

Mr. Marsh has been a Director since 1991. 
He is also a  Director of the Coconut Industry 
Board and Templeman Transport Limited. He is 
the Chairman of Epping Oil Company Limited 
and Epping Retail Limited and Managing 
Director of Mars Auto Parts & Transmission 
Services Limited. He also sits on the Boards 
of the subsidiaries of Seprod Limited and is a 
member of the Audit Committee.

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 7 MADE BY SEPROD, MUST BE GOOD13



BOARD OF
DIRECTORS
CONTINUED

Nicholas A. Scott

Mr. N.A. Scott is the Chief Investment Officer of 
the Investment and Financial Services businesses 
of the Musson Group. In that capacity he serves 
as the Managing Director of Eppley Limited and a 
Director of General Accident Insurance Company 
(Jamaica) Limited. Mr. Scott is the Chairman of 
the National Education Trust and a Director of 
IWC Opportunity Fund, I and Jakes Holdings 
Limited and is a former Vice-President of the 
Private Sector Organization of Jamaica. He holds 
a B.Sc. in Economics from the Wharton School 
at the University of Pennsylvania, an M.B.A from 
Columbia Business School and an M.P.A. from the 
Harvard Kennedy School of Government.

Christopher Gentles

Christopher Gentles was appointed a Director of 
the Seprod Board in April 2016. He is currently 
the Chairman of the Coconut Industry Board and 
is employed to Coffee Traders Ltd, as a General 
Manager within the Farm Services Division. 
He was former General Manager of JP Tropical 
Foods - Farm Operations, and the former Director 
General of the Coffee Industry Board of Jamaica. 
He holds his Global MBA from the Manchester 
Business School in the United Kingdom as well as 
his Bachelor of Science in Agronomy from UWI, 
St.Augustine, Trinidad.
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M.J. Subratie,
BCE, MSCE, EIT, JP

Mr. Michael Subratie is the Managing Director of T. Geddes 
Grant (Distributors) Limited as well as the Chief Operating 
Officer and a Director of the Musson Group of Companies in 
charge of Musson’s manufacturing & trading business entities. 
He has served on several government boards including the 
Urban Development Corporation, Jamaica Urban Transit 
Company, Jamaica Railway Corporation, Montego Freeport 
Limited and the former Pegasus Hotel. He also sits on the 
board of the American Chamber of Commerce, and he is the 
Honorary Consul of Bangladesh. In November 2016, Michael 
was appointed as Dean of The Consular Corps of Jamaica.  In 
his capacity as Dean, Michael represents over 47 countries that 
do not have resident Ambassadors in Jamaica. Michael is an 
active member of the Young Presidents Organization (YPO). 
He holds a Bachelors Degree in Civil Engineering with highest 
honor from Georgia Institute of Technology and a Masters 
Degree in Structural Engineering from Purdue University. 

Hugh Gentles,
JP, B.A. 

Appointed in 2016, Mr. Hugh 
Gentles is a graduate of York 
University, Toronto, Canada. He is 
the owner of Glastonbury Farm and 
Founder/Manager of Glastonbury 
Purveyor Company Ltd. He sits on 
the Coconut Industry Board and 
the Quarries Advisory Committee.  
He is also a founding member and 
current Chairman of Potato & Onion 
Producers Association of Jamaica 
(POPA). 

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 7 MADE BY SEPROD, MUST BE GOOD15



Dr. Nigel Clarke 
BSc., MSc., D.Phil
(Resigned March 2018)

A Director since 2003, Dr. Clarke is Deputy Chairman 
and Chief Financial Officer of the Musson Group of 
Companies and serves on the Board of Directors 
of all Musson companies including Facey Group, 
T. Geddes Grant, General Accident, and their 
subsidiaries, among other group companies. In 
addition he is Chairman of Eppley Limited and 
Deputy Chairman of the PBS Group. Dr. Clarke is a 
member of the Executive Committee of the Board 
of Seprod and sits on the Board of Directors of all its 
subsidiary companies.

BOARD OF
DIRECTORS
CONTINUED
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BOARD  SUB-COMMITTEES
AUDIT COMMITTEE

SUPERANNUATION COMMITTEE

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

INSURANCE COMMITTEE

Mrs. M. M.
Subratie 
(Chairperson)

Mr. P.B.
Scott 
(Chairperson)

Mr. G.E.
Marsh

Mr. B.E. 
Thompson

Mr. P. J. 
Thwaites

Mr. B.E. 
Thompson

Mr. P. J. 
Thwaites

Mr. P. J. 
Thwaites
(Chairperson)

Mr. R.R. 
Pandohie

Mr. P. J. 
Thwaites
(Chairperson)

Mr. N.A.
Scott

Mr. N.A.
Scott

Mrs. M.M. 
Subratie

Mr. N.A.
Scott

Mrs. M. M.
Subratie

Mr. P.B.
Scott

Mr. G.E.
Marsh

Mr. B.E. 
Thompson
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DIRECTORS’
ATTENDANCE - 2017

Number of Board Meetings 11

Paul Scott 11

Richard Pandohie 11

Peter Thwaites 10

Byron Thompson 11

Granville Marsh 10

Melanie Subratie 10

Michael Subratie 11

Nicholas Scott 11

Nigel Clarke (Resigned March 2018) 2

Christopher Gentles 11

Hugh Gentles 8
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MANAGEMENT PROFILE

Marilyn Anderson
GENERAL MANAGER -
Caribbean Products Company Ltd.

Mrs. Marilyn Anderson joined the 
Group in August 1989. She has 
a wealth of experience having 
served in various positions across 
the business including Plant 
Management, Research & Product 
Development, Quality Control and 
Property Management. The most 
recent role prior to her current one 
was that of Corporate Secretary, 
with responsibility for Procurement. 
She holds an MBA in International 
Business and a BSc. in Chemistry 
from the University of the West 
Indies. She is an active member of 
the St. Andrew Lions Club.

Dalton Brown  
FACTORY MANAGER -
Golden Grove Sugar Company Ltd.

Mr. Dalton Brown, Dip. Mech. Eng., 
BSc. Management joined the Group 
in December 2015. He has twenty 
five years’ experience working in 
four other sugar factories across 
the island as the Chief Engineer 
or as the Factory Manager. He has 
engineering experience in other 
areas such as can-making, the 
making of crude and refined soya 
bean oil and milk products including 
sweetened condensed milk. He 
also has experience working as a 
Maintenance Manager in the Hotel 
Industry for the Super Clubs Group 
of Companies.

Dr. Gavin Bellamy
GENERAL MANAGER -
Serge Island Farms Ltd.

Dr. Gavin Bellamy joined the Group 
in January 2016. He holds a Doctor 
of Veterinary Medicine Degree 
and also has a Masters Degree 
in Reproduction Physiology. Prior 
to joining the Group, he was a 
Veterinary Specialist and acting 
Senior Veterinary Officer with the 
Ministry of Agriculture & Fisheries 
Veterinary Services Division 
where his focus was in regulatory 
medicine, international food safety 
and product quality. In earlier years 
he was proprietor and manager of 
his veterinary clinic. Dr. Bellamy is a 
member of the Jamaica Veterinary 
Medical Association, a Justice of the 
Peace and Lay Magistrate.
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Angela Cooper 
FINANCIAL CONSULTANT

Ms. Angela Cooper FCCA, FCA 
has been with the company since 
1981. She recently retired from 
the position of Chief Financial 
Officer and continues to serve the 
Group working as a consultant 
on special projects. She has more 
than thirty years experience in 
auditing and accounting. Prior to 
joining the Group, she worked as 
a Senior Auditor with Mair, Russell, 
Grant Thornton. She is a member 
of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Jamaica and the 
Chartered Association of Certified 
Accountants.

Evrol Dixon 
GENERAL MANAGER -
International Biscuits Ltd.

Major (ret’d) Evrol Dixon, BSc. 
(Eng.) assumed responsibilities in 
January 2018. He was previously the 
Commercial Manager for Golden 
Grove Sugar Company and prior to 
this Plant Manager for International 
Biscuits Limited (IBL). He was the 
Manufacturing Manager at the biscuit 
plant of Kraft Foods Jamaica before 
its acquisition by Seprod in 2007. 
Past experiences include Jamaica 
Flour Mills, Grace Food Processors 
and Appliance Traders Limited. 
Major Dixon previously served in the 
Jamaica Defence Force (JDF) where 
he completed Officer Training at the 
Royal Air Force College, Cranwell 
(UK) and the US Army Computer 
Science School, Fort Gordon (USA).

Damion Dodd 
GROUP CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
AND CORPORATE SECRETARY

Mr. Damion Dodd, BSc, CPA, FCA joined 
the Seprod Group in October 2017 and 
was appointed to the roles effective 1 
January 2018. Damion is a veteran finance 
professional with over twenty (20) years 
experience. He not only brings to the 
Group a wealth of knowledge in the field 
of Finance, but also specialized expertise in 
the area of Taxation, having previously been 
a Tax Partner at PricewaterhouseCoopers. 
Damion is a Fellow of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of Jamaica (ICAJ) 
and currently sits as Advisor on the Tax 
and Accounting Standards Committees. 
In addition to successfully completing the 
Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) exam to 
Level II, he holds a Bachelor of Science (BSc) 
Degree in Accounting and Economics from 
the University of the West Indies, Mona 
and is a Chartered Public Accountant (CPA) 
licensed by the New Hampshire Board of 
Accountancy, USA. Damion is also Seprod 
Limited’s representative at the Jamaica 
Chamber of Commerce.

M A N A G E M E N T  P R O F I L E  C O N T ’ D
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Devon Francis 
GENERAL MANAGER -
Serge Island Dairies Ltd.

Mr. Devon Francis joined the 
Group  in February 2017. He has 
a track record of operational and 
business successes in the food 
and beverage industry locally and 
internationally, having worked in 
Senior Management roles for major 
companies such Diageo plc, Coca 
Cola, Red Stripe Jamaica Limited 
and Heineken. Prior to joining, he 
worked as Supply Chain Director 
at Diageo, Seychelles and as Head 
of Supply at Red Stripe Jamaica 
and Heineken Jamaica. He holds a 
BBA (Hons) Degree in Production 
and Operations Management 
from the University of Technology 
Jamaica, and a Masters in Brewery 
Operations from the Institute of 
Brewing and Distilling.

Carol Gordon-Andrade 
GROUP INNOVATION AND 
QUALITY MANAGER

Mrs. Carol Gordon-Andrade, B.Sc, 
M.Sc joined the Group in May 
2015. She is responsible for all 
aspects of Innovation and Quality 
across the Seprod Group. She is 
credited with over twenty (20) years 
combined experience in Quality 
Assurance, Food Safety, Laboratory 
Management, Product Development 
and Manufacturing. Mrs. Gordon- 
Andrade was introduced into 
Food Manufacturing at Nestle 
Jamaica Limited where she rose to 
the position of Quality Assurance 
Manager. She has extensive training 
locally and internationally in all 
aspects of Quality Assurance. She 
has also been exposed to best 
practices in food manufacturing at 
an international level.  Innovation 
has always been included in Mrs. 
Andrade’s portfolio as she played 
an integral part in developing and 
launching of new products.

Glenise Durrant-Freckleton
GROUP STRATEGY AND PLANNING 
MANAGER

Mrs. Glenise Durrant-Freckleton joined the 
Seprod Group in June 2017. She is credited 
with over eighteen (18) years’ experience in 
Financial Analysis and Planning, Strategy, 
Supply Chain Management, Accounting  
and Process Control. Glenise holds a 
Masters Degree in Accounting and a 
Bachelors Degree in Accounting and 
Management Studies. She is also a member 
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
of Jamaica. Her past experiences include: 
PricewaterhouseCoopers,Carreras,  Jamaica 
Flour Mills and Red Stripe where she delivered 
Financial and Operational excellence. In her 
current role, she focuses on leading strategic 
business projects, transforming the supply 
chain function, and supporting the business 
in its growth agenda.

MANAGEMENT PROFILE
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Tricia Hill
SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGER -

Trinidad & Tobago

Ms. Tricia Hill joined Musson 
International Dairies T&T Limited 
in June 2016 as Supply Chain 
Manager. Prior to this appointment, 
she successfully held many roles 
within shipping, distribution and 
manufacturing industries over the 
last eighteen years. Within these 
roles, Tricia had the opportunity 
to interact with various local and 
international stakeholders during 
her tenure. Tricia holds a Bachelor   
of Science Degree in Logistics and 
Supply Chain Management from the 
Australian Institute of Business. 

Kerrian Johnson 
GROUP MARKETING MANAGER

Ms. Kerrian Johnson B.Sc., M.B.A. 
assumed responsibilities as Group 
Marketing Manager  in January 2018 
and was  previously the Marketing 
Innovation Manager. Prior to joining 
the group, Miss Johnson worked as 
Marketing Development Manager 
(Jamaica and Eastern Caribbean) 
with Grace Kennedy Remittance 
Services. She has over 20 years 
experience in Marketing Strategy, 
Brand Management, and Regional 
Marketing development and 
execution.

Ryan Kirlew  
FACTORY MANAGER -
Musson International Dairies Ltd.

Mr. Ryan F. Kirlew ACCA, BSc, 
joined the group on the acquisition 
of Nestle Jamaica Ltd.’s local 
manufacturing operations on 
February 1, 2016. Ryan counts on 
more than 16 years professional 
experience having covered roles in 
financial and operations accounting.  
He holds a BSc (Hons) Degree 
in Accounting and Management 
Studies from the University of the 
West Indies (Mona) and is a member 
of the Association of Chartered 
Certified Accountants.

M A N A G E M E N T  P R O F I L E  C O N T ’ D
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Efrain Lara
AREA MANAGER - 
Dominican Republic

Mr. Efrain Lara joined the Group in 
2016 as the Supligen Area Manager 
in the Dominican Republic. He 
has a Bachelor of Science Degree 
in Business Administration and 
a Master of Science Degree in 
Project Management from George 
Washington University. Efrain has 
had over 14 years experience in 
Supply Chain - Import/Export, 
Procurement, Customer Service, 
SNP and has lead teams in 
institutional and commercial sales.

Roger Lewis 
LEAD INFORMATION 
TECHNOLOGY MANAGER

Mr. Roger Lewis Bsc, MBA has held 
IT leadership roles over the last 20 
years in several industries including 
telecommunications, government, 
shipping, publishing and digital 
advertising. He has held senior 
positions at Cable and Wireless, 
eGOV, Port Computer Services and 
Global Directories Limited. He is 
ITIL and PMP certified.

Milton Maragh 
GROUP BUSINESS 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGER

Mr. Milton Maragh joined the 
Group in September 2012 with 
prior experiences in the Beverage 
and Bauxite/Alumina industries. He 
has worked with companies such as 
PepsiCo, Desnoes & Geddes Limited 
and Alcan Jamaica Company in both 
technical and commercial positions. 
Mr. Maragh also worked in North 
America and holds qualifications 
in Chemical Engineering, Business 
Administration and Information 
Management.

MANAGEMENT PROFILE
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Jeffrey Moss-Solomon 
GENERAL MANAGER -
Jamaica Grain and Cereals Ltd.

Effective February 1, 2016, Mr. 
Jeffrey Moss-Solomon is on 
secondment from Musson Jamaica 
Limited as the General Manager 
of Jamaica Grain and Cereals 
Limited. He was previously the 
General Manager of the Musson 
Manufacturing Division. He has held 
management positions at J. Wray 
& Nephew Limited and Wallace 
Evans and Associates. Jeffrey is a 
past student of Campion College 
and Marlborough College (UK). He 
holds a BSc (Hons) Degree in Civil 
Engineering from the University 
of the West Indies, St. Augustine 
and an MBA (Dist) in Banking and 
Finance. Jeffrey is married and has 
two daughters.

Dr. Patrick Sterling, PhD.
GROUP HUMAN RESOURCE 
AND INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS 
MANAGER

Dr. Patrick Sterling has prior 
experiences in insurance, retail, 
telecommunications,  manufacturing 
and distribution, holding senior HR 
Leadership roles in a number of 
entities including Universal Stores 
Limited (ICD), LIME Jamaica, Pepsi-
Cola Jamaica and Carreras Limited.  
Dr. Sterling’s qualifications include 
a Diploma (Mico); B.A. (UWI); M.Sc. 
(Nova Southeastern University) and 
PhD. (UWI). He is a member of the 
Jamaica Employers’ Federation 
(JEF) and the Society for Human 
Resources Management (SHRM).

Amanda Watson
EXPORT MANAGER

Ms. Amanda Watson BA, MBA 
joined the Seprod Group in 
December 2016. She is credited 
with international experience as she 
began her career at Grace Foods 
Canada Inc. Amanda holds a BA 
(Hons) degree from the University of 
Toronto and an MBA with Distinction 
from the Mona School of Business. 
In her current role, she assumes the 
responsibility of driving the growth 
of Seprod’ s international business 
in the Caribbean, United States, 
Canada and the United Kingdom. 

M A N A G E M E N T  P R O F I L E  C O N T ’ D
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

Richard Pandohie
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Dear Shareholders, Associates and 
Customers,

We have been on this journey for 
the last three (3) years to transform 
the Seprod Group; as such, I see 
this report as an update to you, 
our valued stakeholders, on how 
we have delivered so far against the 

commitments made.

2017 was another year of innovations, 
explosive export growth, increased brand 
visibility and, finally after more than two (2) 
years of construction, the completion of the 
Grains Mill. This Mill, a joint venture partnership 
with Seaboard Corporation, represents one 

of the largest manufacturing investments in 
Jamaica in the last three (3) decades and 

will play a pivotal role in increasing 
exports and in import substitution, 

not only for Jamaica but for the 
entire Caribbean Community 
(CARICOM).
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M A N A G E M E N T  D I S C U S S I O N  &  A N A LY S I S  C O N T ’ D

We made some key moves that cemented our drive to deliver on the Board’s mandate of 
evolving Seprod into a sustainable growth entity, delivering above average returns and 
being a significant contributor to Jamaica’s growth ambition. We have completed the third 
year of this transformative journey and it was another satisfying one.
 
In 2017, the company reflected a $730 million or 5% increase in revenue to $16.5 billion 
at year-end. We had an operating profit of $1.3 billion and a net profit of $648 million 
for the year, an increase of 8% and 26%, respectively, over 2016 (factoring one-off gains 
experienced in 2016 from the sale of our equity securities portfolio in that year).
 
Despite the overall positive performance, there remains some issues that will have to be 
addressed in short order if we are to enhance shareholder value. The most pressing of these 
is in respect of Golden Grove Sugar Company Limited (GGSC). True, we have reduced the 
losses at the sugar operations but we were unable to deliver the promised breakeven 
position in 2017. As we look down the road, we have accepted that the sugar industry in 
Jamaica has significant challenges and GGSC (which operates the smallest sugar factory 
in the country) will be unable to survive without a radical change in its structure. We will 
engage with all stakeholders to find a way to exit the loss-making factory operations, while 
continuing the farming of sugar cane.
   
The Group continued its aggressive factory investment; bringing the total capital expenditure 
over the last three (3) years to over $5.48 billion. These investments are a reaffirmation of 
our commitment to build a solid platform to drive productivity and profitable growth, 
attract manufacturing for other companies, improve our capability to deliver exciting new 
products to our consumers and create a stimulating work environment for our employees. 
Simultaneously, we divested the soap and bleach operations to streamline our focus and 
get rid of non-core operations.
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Seprod continues to strengthen its focus on quality and food safety. We have implemented 
a program to ensure that all our factories and farms are FSSC 22000 certified (Food Safety 
System). This will be succeeded by an ISO 9001 (Quality) Certification across all our 
facilities. Full implementation of both Food Safety and Quality Certifications are expected 
to be completed by Q1 2019 in all factories and by 2020 for the farms.

Let me update you on our 2017 performance:

Group revenue for 2017 
was $16.5 billion, which 
is an increase of 5% over 
2016, mainly driven by new 
products to the portfolio as 
well as an increase in our 
export business.

Operating profit decreased by 
16% to $1.3 billion (due to one 
off-gains made in 2016).
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• Total assets grew by 16% to $20 billion.
• Equity attributable to stockholders increased by $121 million to $9.9 billion.

We have a solid balance sheet that reflects a strong financial position and sets us on a firm 
footing to pursue our growth agenda.

LOOKING FORWARD TO 2018 AND BEYOND

Management will deliver revenue and operating profit growth in 2018. We intend to 
achieve this by:

Earnings per share were $1.42, 
down from $2.11 in prior year, a 
decrease of $0.69 or 33% (due 
to one off-gains made in 2016).
 
Dividends per share were $0.95, 
down from $3.23 in prior year, a 
decrease of $2.28. 

• Continuing to drive growth by 
innovations throughout all our 
operations. We hit some winners 
in 2017 with Supligen Irish 
Moss, flavoured condensed milk 
(Observer Food Awards best 
innovation nominee for 2017), 
Betty evaporated milk and Cookies 
n Cream sandwich biscuits.

  
• Maximizing synergies in the dairy 

businesses, consequent on the 
former Nestle factory being fully 
integrated into the Seprod Group 
effective January 1, 2018.

• Significantly expanding our 
distribution capability to improve 
our distribution footprint and gain 
more control of our supply chain 
from factory to retail shelves.

 
• Significantly restructuring the sugar 

operations, as we move to eliminate 
the losses.

• Continuing to look for acquisition 
opportunities and partnerships 
(locally and internationally) that will 
be value enhancing.

M A N A G E M E N T  D I S C U S S I O N  &  A N A LY S I S  C O N T ’ D
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• Driving export growth. We were the proud winners of the Jamaica Manufacturers 
Association Prime Minister’s Award for Large Champion Exporter in 2017. Our 
expectation is to grow exports more than 25% each year.

• Attracting and investing in talented people – people endowed with the right skills, 
as well as the agility and passion to perform. Seprod expanded its internship 
program in 2017, bringing on board some amazing young people, all of whom will 
be offered full time employment at the end of their rotation in 2018.

 
• Creating a foundation of operational excellence to drive productivity in every facet 

of the operation.
 
• Continuous improvement in our operational capability to attract contract 

manufacturing opportunities.  One of our proudest moments in 2017 was when we 
shipped more than twenty (20) containers in December for three (3) companies that 
had moved their manufacturing to Jamaica from the USA.

• Giving back to the communities we serve. We are proud of the work of the SEPROD 
Foundation and the impact we are having in improving the lives and skillset of 
Jamaicans.

As always, none of the above would have been possible without the over 1,000 team 
members who worked diligently to deliver these results. We have talented and engaged 
people, who are passionate about the company and the iconic brands that we bring to our 
customers and consumers every day. We are a family that is intent on building a world class 
business and having lots of fun in the process.

I want to reiterate to you, our stakeholders, that the plans are ambitious but realistic; we 
are ahead of where we expected to be at this stage and we will ride this momentum to 
over deliver on our commitment. Team Seprod is fully engaged and is confident that we 
will unlock our full potential to deliver shareholder value and contribute to Jamaica being 
a place of choice to live and work.

On behalf of all the employees of Seprod, I wish to thank you for your continued confidence 
in our company. It has been an incredible journey and I truly believe that the best is yet to 
come.

Best regards,

............................
Richard Pandohie

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Revenue 16,511,206 15,781,917 13,777,863 14,007,117 13,921,759 12,723,578 12,005,202 9,776,563 9,495,060 9,257,660

Operating 
Profit

1,330,969 1,588,716 900,823 1,460,478 1,419,318 1,305,328 1,256,314 1,206,866 2,210,782 1,464,258

Finance & 
Other Income

753,103 1,051,619 760,629 682,791 867,368 490,547 469,858 343,409 756,239 520,064

Pre-tax Profit 938,960 1,185,924 604,058 1,170,645 1,118,394 1,199,632 1,193,951 1,170,927 2,185,901 1,435,462

Net-Profit 
after Taxation

647,843 875,209 576,900 895,375 767,876 834,027 767,280 830,263 1,485,937 938,203

Shareholders’ 
Equity

9,889,214 9,767,944 10,309,528 9,868,072 9,366,647 8,596,211 8,072,140 7,761,085 6,978,781 5,875,350

Earnings Per 
Stock Unit 
(cents)

142 211 168 196 175 170 169 195 286 182

Dividends Per 
Stock Unit 
(cents)

95 323 95 90 83 83 76 75 65 45

Statistical Highlights ($000)

M A N A G E M E N T  D I S C U S S I O N  &  A N A LY S I S  C O N T ’ D
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GOLD SEAL
FLOUR

Jamaica Grain & Cereals Limited (JGCL), a member of the SEPROD Group of Companies, began 
production of Gold Seal flour in its newly refurbished, state-of the art Multi-Grain Milling Operation 
in October 2017

Prior to 2017, the plant produced Refined Cornmeal, Whole Meal, Grits (Bakers and Brewers), 
Cracked Corn, Hominy Corn and Pronto Cornmeal Instant Porridge. The plant was upgraded in 
2017 to the tune of J$3B, in a joint venture initiative with Seaboard Corporation, adding a state 
of the art flour mill and a grain terminal at Kingston Wharves for the receipt of grain shipments. 
The over J$3B investment facilitated the company’s foray into flour production under the Gold 
Seal brand, a move which now sees the company producing counter flour, baking flour, whole 
wheat flour and specialty value-added products. The investment will also allow JGCL to increase 
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G O L D  S E A L  F L O U R  C O N T ’ D

its cornmeal production to better satisfy demand throughout the Caribbean. The 
investment increases JGCL’s capacity to produce corn and flour products for local and 
regional markets by 400%, and its grain storage capacity by 1000%. JGCL now has the 
ability to produce over 5000 45kg bags of flour and 1500 bags of cornmeal daily. It sells 
in both bulk trucks and retail size SKUs. JGCL facilitates employment of 300 persons  and 
is now poised for the export market.

Export Opportunities - With the investment in the Jamaica Grain & Cereals Mill, Seprod 
is now positioned to meet the requirements for all corn based imports throughout the 
region and can now meet the demand. Exports for both milled corn and wheat will target 
the CARICOM market first, with the primary targets being the Snack Food Manufacturers 
and the Industrial and Commercial Bakers in the region.

Gold Seal Advertising Campaign

Gold Seal launched its official advertising campaign “Creating Golden Moments” 
in November 2017. The campaign created brand awareness for the product through 
experiential and social marketing.  

“ Gold Seal Tanker ready for operation throughout the island”.
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MARKETING
REPORT

INTRODUCTION

Seprod continued to fulfil its promise to innovate and grow its existing brands over 2017.  
The company has seen a resurgence in its current market offerings that has resulted in the 
expansion of its major product lines. The four strategic pillars (innovation and renovation, 
economies of scale, high performance culture and creating mutually beneficial partnerships) 
continue to be the foundation for delivering the brand promise and building the Seprod 
brands both regionally and internationally. 2017 saw the company:

1. Creating Value and Introducing new products
2. Creating awareness and maintaining share of heart through promotional events
3. Building Shareholder value
4. Creating a winning culture

Creating Value with New Innovations

MORE REASONS TO LOVE BETTY

Betty Sweetened Condensed Milk (SCM) was rejuvenated and expanded 
to include a family of products. Seprod introduced a Betty flavoured 
condensed milk, Betty Creamer and Betty Evaporated Milk. In addition, the 
newest innovation for the brand included Betty Full Cream Milk and Betty 
1% Fat Milk, offering consumers a wide variety of choices in the category. 
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M A R K E T I N G  R E P O R T  C O N T ’ D

This exciting new family of products was launched in September 2017 under the “More 
Reasons to Love Betty” campaign and had a promotional and media kick-off with the 
first annual Betty Porridge Cook-off at the Half-Way-Tree Transport Centre in Kingston.

BETTY PORRIDGE COOK OFF 2017 

One of the 6 contestants hard 
at work creating her signature 
Betty inspired porridge

Grand Prize winner L-R: Patrice Williams, Brand 
Manager – Betty, Richard Parchment, Shanice Barrett, 
winner Kaydian Leird and Chrisette Gayle

Guest judge, Marilyn Anderson tastes 
the entrants tasty concoctions to help 
determine the Betty Porridge Cook 
Off champion

Betty Porridge Cook-Off finalists ready to 
showcase their culinary skills using the wide 
range of Betty products
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New Products
BETTY INNOVATIONS IN THE WORLD OF MILK –
BRAND NEW PRODUCT IN THE BETTY BRAND 

NEW PRODUCT – SUPLIGEN LINE 
EXTENSION

Supligen introduced the newest flavour to 
the Jamaican market in 2017. Irish Moss 
flavoured Supligen, with natural Irish Moss 
extracts, has been a successful addition to 
the Seprod portfolio.

Betty introduced its newest products: Full Cream and 1% Low Fat Milks. The diversity of 
the Betty family of products is a true demonstration of innovation in action
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M A R K E T I N G  R E P O R T  C O N T ’ D

SUPLIGEN IN DI STREETS

Supligen took its show on the road with the “In di Streets” promotion in 2017. The Supligen brand 
conducted an island wide tour to promote the extensive Supligen portfolio through music, sampling 
and customer engagement. This type of engagement was the first of its kind for Supligen and served 
to reinvigorate the brand as a pre-cursor to the brand launch in 2018. Supligen is  available throughout 
the Caribbean and in the Dominican Republic

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 7MADE BY SEPROD, MUST BE GOOD 40



Food Awards and Pasta Supreme

THE OBSERVER FOOD AWARDS

Seprod showcased the 
wide range and versatility 
of the Serge range of milks 
with outstanding displays 
at various prestigious food 
events. The products were 
given culinary twist with the 
stylings of Chef Oji Jaja, 
delighting patrons all around 

The World of Serge made waves in the social spheres by interacting with customers at 
various events throughout the year. Here are a few highlights:

Creating awareness and maintaining share of heart 
through promotional events
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M A R K E T I N G  R E P O R T  C O N T ’ D

SERGE EGG NOG 
CHRISTMAS 
CAMPAIGN – 
THE RESERGENCE

MAINTAINING EXCELLENCE AT SERGE ISLAND DAIRY FARMS

Serge relaunched its Christmas 
campaign with renowned chef, 
Karissa Henry of Pink Apron Ja 
who created specialty recipes 
exclusively for Serge such as 
Eggnog Chocolate Chip Bread 
Pudding and Serge Eggnog 
Tiramisu

The Serge team continued 
their tradition of excellence at 
the Denbigh Agricultural Show 
and walked away with:

• Champion Cow - Other 
Dairy Breeds

• Supreme Champion - 
Dairy Cow

• Best Uddered Dairy 
Cow

• Supreme Champion 
Dairy Heifer

• Champion Jamaica 
Hope Heifer

• Champion Heifer 
Other Dairy Breed
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WORLD SCHOOL MILK DAY (OCTOBER)

WORLD MILK DAY (JUNE) 

Serge, in partnership with the Drink 
Real Milk campaign, took to the 
streets of Half Way Tree to continue 
to educate the public on the 
benefits of milk and the importance 
of good nutrition

Serge celebrated World School Milk Day with the students 
of four schools. Students were treated to the goodness of 
Serge Monster milk and were provided with school supplies.  
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M A R K E T I N G  R E P O R T  C O N T ’ D

NATIONAL CHESS 
CHAMPIONSHIP

National Chess Championships: Serge 
has continued to support childhood 
development through nutrition and 
has been very active in all activities 
geared towards children’s growth.  
The National Chess Championships 
was a key event that allowed the 
brand to provide vital nutrition for the 
entrants.

PAN 2017

Seprod, under the Miracle brand, enjoyed its third 
year of being a major sponsor of Pan. Miracle 
ketchup was named the official ketchup of the 
festival and awarded the Pan Chicken ketchup for 
the second year in a row.

Serge, through its Monster Milk brand, also played 
a significant role in Pan 2017. Monster Milk was 
the official sponsor of the Kiddie’s Village for the 
third consecutive year.

Key Sponsorships
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Seprod Limited continues to grow its business through export opportunities 
both regionally and internationally. The company, with the introduction of new 
innovative products, will seek to increase its international footprint in 2018.

CREATING AND SEIZING OPPORTUNITIES

SEPROD Limited is one of the largest food manufacturers in the English speaking Caribbean. It 
is committed to the continued growth of its manufacturing base with the objective of increased 
exports and import substitution within the domestic market (CARICOM). The Supligen brand 
has increased its distribution throughout the Caribbean and the Diaspora and is currently the 
company’s best performer on the world stage.

EXPORT GROWTH

Overall Growth in Exports for 2016 vs 2015 – 40%
Overall Growth in Exports for 2017 vs 2016 – 46% 

GROWING
EXPORTS
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• 1. Antigua                  
• 2. Barbados                 
• 3. Bahamas 
• 4. Cayman                   
• 5. Dominica                 
• 6. Dom Rep
• 7. Grenada                  
• 8. Guyana                   
• 9. Haiti                    
• 10. St. Kitts                

Champion Exporter

G R O W I N G  E X P O R T S  C O N T ’ D

Winner of the Jamaican Manufactures Association (JMA) Prime Minister’s Award 
for Large Champion Exporters.

DISTRIBUTION FOOTPRINT

• 11. St. Lucia                
• 12. St. Martin               
• 13. St. Vincent & 

Grenadines 
• 14. Trinidad                 
• 15. British Virgin Islands  
• 16. UK
• 17. Belgium       
• 18. Canada                   
• 19. USA          
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SEPROD
FOUNDATION

2017 was an awesome year for Seprod Foundation. We have deepened and 
widened the scope of the projects that we work on. Our priorities continue 
to be programs that help at risk youth, and also promote learning skills that 
equip Jamaican children to be at the forefront of skills that will be in demand 
globally.

RISE LIFE MANAGEMENT

We increased our donation to RISE LIFE Management and were pleased to see this 
incredibly important NGO continue its work in the inner city, with programs such 
as National Telephone Lifeline, Outpatient Substance Use Disorders Treatment, 
Responsible Gaming, Employee Assistance and HIV Prevention for Most At Risk 
Populations.  We will continue to support them and will again increase our contribution 
next year.
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S E P R O D  F O U N D AT I O N  C O N T ’ D

NATIONAL YOUTH ORCHESTRA OF JAMAICA “NYOJ”

Having supported the NYOJ for many years we continue   to provide financial support to 
such an important program. Based on the Venezuelan, El Sistema program, the Jamaican 
version continues to flourish. We were excited to hear that members had progressed into 
tertiary level music institutions, 
and some had been able to go 
on to study abroad. 

DEBATEMATE 

It has been wonderful to see the development of this Urban Debate League. It is 
important work to develop conflict resolution programs within high schools.  It is a life 
skill that will help the participants not only with working together at school but in a 
work environment and personal capacity for the rest of their lives. We started off with 
sponsoring one school and now support the programs at Kingston High School and 
St Andrews Technical High School.  

“...NYOJ is doing incredible work in 
Jamaica, using music as a tool for social 
change, and our partnership with them 
has been extremely fruitful...NYOJ has 
been unique in its ability to get the right 
partners at the table, from the public 
sector and private sector, from the start, 
and has been strong and revolutionary 
from the get-go.” 
– Mariano Vales, Music Programme 
Director, Organisation of American States 
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SEPROD SCHOLARSHIPS

With over 30 years of providing scholarships for students going into High School, we have 
been so pleased to extend the provision of scholarships. In 2016 we added scholarships to 
students of CASE in order to help build capacity in the agricultural sector in Jamaica. Most 
importantly this year we were able to commemorate Dr. Jones a long serving member of the 
Seprod Board by providing a vetinary scholarship in his name. His daughter Bromwen Jones 
was on hand to award the scholarship to its recipient Dr. Ralston Bent. Our Scholarship event 
included an incredible speech by Damion Crawford to motivate the participants.  

Richard Jones Scholarship 
Awardee- Dr. Ralston 
Bent (centre) with wife 
and (L-R) Dr. Gavin 
Bellamy, Melanie Subratie 
and Richard Pandohie 

 CASE Scholarship Awardees 
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2017 GSAT Awardees with Kerrian Johnson - Group 
Marketing Manager, Melanie Subratie-Seprod
Foundation Chairperson and Richard Pandohie-Chief 
Executive Officer 

Kalea Rowe receives the 
Byron Thompson Award 
for Academic Achievement 
presented by Mr. Thompson 
himself.

This award is given to an 
existing GSAT Scholarship 
Awardee with the highest 
overall final grade average.

S E P R O D  F O U N D AT I O N  C O N T ’ D
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STEM – SCIENCE TECHNOLOGY ENGINEERING & MATH

It is incredibly important for us to support STEM programs here in Jamaica. We have to ensure 
that Jamaica’s youth are prepared for the modern digital economy.  As such we have invested 
in multiple programs to teach Computer Coding and robotics to both teachers and to students 
in many formats throughout 2017. We continue to work with Halls of Learning to provide some 
innovative experiences to support learning in this area.   

SCRATCH DAY

As part of this initiative we were able to train over 160 teachers in the use of Scratch, a child 
friendly program that helps children learn coding. We did this in preparation for SCRATCH 
DAY which is an annual event celebrated by users of Scratch globally. In addition we provided 
an open day for these teachers to bring their students to use many variants of the program 
and get a hands on feel. We also went to see some of our teachers use their training in their 
own classrooms. The feedback was excellent, and we believe that some of this training may 
feed back into initiatives by those same teachers in 2018. 

Seprod Foundation celebrated Scratch Day on 
May 12, where they hosted Scratch Teacher’s 
Training Sessions, facilitated by Halls of Learning 
to expose 160 teachers to the concept of 
Scratch -   the premier platform for introducing 
creative competencies to children.
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HOUR OF CODE

This year we took a new approach and did a “SCHOOL TAKEOVER” by giving one hour Swift 
programming workshops in 5 schools in the inner city. 400 children participated in this. Furthermore, 
to promote understanding of coding, we worked with Jamaican personalities and made videos to 
post on social media to promote the learning of code. The videos are available on You Tube and 
show Ingrid Riley, DJ Bambino, Emprezz and Protoje undergoing training on Swift. We hope that 
these will also help promote children’s interest in learning to code.

As part of the Hour 
of Code initiative, 
Seprod Foundation 
organized activities 
through Halls of 
Learning to encourage 
children to learn and 
pursue computer 
programming in the 
future. 

1. Emprezz
2. Protoje
3. Bambino

1

3

2
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JAMAICAN GIRLS CODING

Again we supported a summer camp for Jamaican Girls Coding. The girls learnt how to 
program drones and also how to make their own game. We also gave scholarships to girls to 
attend the Animation Camp at Edna Manley.  

ROBOTICS OUTREACH DAY

On an annual basis we work with Halls of Learning to provide Robotics experiences 
for inner city kids. This year we hosted it at UWI and we provided for over 400 
children to get workshops on robotics.  

Seprod Foundation congratulated the winning robotics team – the “Lego Yuh 
Mind Makers on their fantastic accomplishment at the 2017 F.I.R.S.T. Lego League 
Robotics Championship in Pittsburgh, USA. They distinguished themselves from a 
field of 80 competitors as the top performers in their age group.  
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GAME DESIGN WORKSHOP

We worked with Halls of Learning and John Balash, Education Network Co-ordinator with 
the Entertainment Technology Center (ETC) at Carnegie Mellon University, to provide a 3 
day workshop on Game Design. The ETC at Carnegie Mellon University is the premiere 
professional graduate program for interactive entertainment.

Over the 3-day workshop, 32 students (and teachers) focused on mechanics, iteration, balance 
and play testing. The idea would be to play some common games, dissect them, break them, 
change them. Next would be to brainstorm a new game and play test as much as possible. 
The final stage would be to polish the games through rapid-prototyping and exhibit them 

We believe that these investments in the human capital of Jamaica will not only inspire more 
careers in Science, Technology, Engineering, Art and Mathematics but also equip our country 
for a more rewarding future.
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Seprod Limited 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income  
Year ended 31 December 2017  
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 

 Note  2017 
$’000  2016 

$’000  
Revenue 5  16,511,206  15,781,917 
Direct expenses   (12,687,358)  (12,291,448) 

Gross Profit   3,823,848  3,490,469 
Finance and other operating income 6  753,103  1,051,619 
Selling expenses   (624,930)  (589,830) 
Administration expenses   (2,352,441)  (2,171,049) 
Other operating expenses   (268,611)  (192,493) 

Operating Profit   1,330,969  1,588,716 
Finance costs 9  (337,773)  (374,631) 
Share of results of joint venture 18  (54,236)  (28,161) 

Profit before Taxation   938,960  1,185,924 
Taxation 10  (291,117)  (310,715) 

Net Profit   647,843  875,209 
Other Comprehensive Income, net of taxes       
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss -      
 Re-measurements of post-employment benefits 10  3,150  166,725 
Item that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss -      
 Unrealised fair value losses on available-for-sale investments 10  (126,345)  (132,385) 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME   524,648  909,549 

      
      
Net Profit is attributable to:      
 Stockholders of the Company 11  735,043  1,092,043 
 Non-controlling interest 18  (87,200)  (216,834) 

   647,843  875,209 

      
Total Comprehensive Income is attributable to:      
 Stockholders of the Company   611,848  1,126,383 
 Non-controlling interest   (87,200)  (216,834) 

   524,648  909,549 

      
      
Earnings per Stock Unit attributable to Stockholders of the Company 12  $1.42  $2.11 

Seprod Limited
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 December 2017
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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Seprod Limited 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position  
31 December 2017 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 

 
Note 

 
 

2017 
$’000 

 
Restated 

2016 
$’000 

 Restated 
2015 
$’000 

Non-current Assets       
Property, plant and equipment 14  4,101,869  4,116,287 3,907,037 
Intangible assets 16  -  1,694 4,234 
Available-for-sale investments 17  1,369,574  1,495,919 1,628,304 
Investment in joint venture 18  345,006  399,242 427,403 
Long term receivables 19  2,243,724  3,543,922 2,584,476 
Post-employment benefit asset 20  38,500  40,300 - 
Biological assets 21  292,628  236,343 250,759 
Deferred tax assets 28  19,237  20,063 73,701 
   8,410,538  9,853,770 8,875,914 

Current Assets       
Inventories  22  2,495,063  1,930,268 1,746,461 
Biological assets 21  508,745  513,198 510,516 
Trade and other receivables 23  6,175,651  3,991,910 1,740,697 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss   -  - 807,069 
Current portion of long term receivables 19  1,487,134  76,439 121,836 
Taxation recoverable   93,631  29,754 38,178 
Short term deposits   -  153,906 142,824 
Cash and bank balances   837,294  667,505 1,312,707 

   11,597,518  7,362,980 6,420,288 
Current Liabilities       

Payables  24  6,807,507  4,468,479 1,981,790 
Current portion of long term liabilities 27  2,012,776  2,182,838 1,447,781 
Taxation payable   70,587  9,198 86,876 

   8,890,870  6,660,515 3,516,447 
Net Current Assets   2,706,648  702,465 2,903,841 

   11,117,186  10,556,235 11,779,755 

Equity Attributable to Stockholders of the Company       
Share capital  25  560,388  560,388 560,388 
Capital reserves  26  943,884  1,070,229 1,202,614 
Retained earnings   8,384,942  8,137,327 8,546,526 
   9,889,214  9,767,944 10,309,528 

Non-controlling Interest   (879,402)  (792,202) (575,368) 
   9,009,812  8,975,742 9,734,160 
Non-current Liabilities       

Post-employment benefit obligations 20  148,400  143,000 297,900 
Long term liabilities 27  1,716,732  1,245,659 1,565,114 
Deferred tax liabilities 28  242,242  191,834 182,581 

   2,107,374  1,580,493 2,045,595 
   11,117,186  10,556,235 11,779,755 

 
 

Seprod Limited
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Year ended 31 December 2017
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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Seprod Limited 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity  
Year ended 31 December 2017 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)  
 

 

  

 

 

Equity Attributable to Stockholders of the Company 

Non-
controlling 

Interest 
Total 

Equity 

 
Number of 

Shares   
Share 

Capital  
 Capital   

Reserve 
Retained 
Earnings Total   

  ‘000  $'000            $'000 $'000   $'000 $’000 $’000 
Balance at 1 January 2016, as 

restated  516,339 560,388 1,202,614 8,546,526 10,309,528 (575,368) 9,734,160 

Profit for the year  - - - 1,092,043 1,092,043 (216,834) 875,209 
Re-measurements on post-

employment benefits  - - - 166,725 166,725 - 166,725 

Fair value losses on investments  - - (132,385) - (132,385) - (132,385) 

Total comprehensive income  - - (132,385) 1,258,768 1,126,383 (216,834) 909,549 

Transactions with owners:         

 Dividends paid (Note 13) - - - (1,667,967) (1,667,967) - (1,667,967) 
Balance at 31 December 2016, as 

restated  516,339 560,388 1,070,229 8,137,327 9,767,944 (792,202) 8,975,742 

Profit for the year  - - - 735,043 735,043 (87,200) 647,843 
Re-measurements on post-

employment benefits  - - - 3,150 3,150 - 3,150 

Fair value losses on investments  - - (126,345) - (126,345) - (126,345) 

Total comprehensive income  - - (126,345) 738,193 611,848 (87,200) 524,648 

Transactions with owners:         

 Dividends paid (Note 13)  - - - (490,578) (490,578) - (490,578) 

Balance at 31 December 2017  516,339 560,388 943,884 8,384,942 9,889,214 (879,402) 9,009,812 

Seprod Limited
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended 31 December 2017
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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Seprod Limited 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows  
Year ended 31 December 2017 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 

 Note  2017 
$’000  2016 

$’000 
Cash Flows from Operating Activities      

Cash provided by operating activities 29  825,631  882,883 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities      
Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (474,247)  (708,464) 
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment   5,557  12,399 
Proceeds from disposal of fair value through profit and loss   -  1,178,195 
Issue of long term receivables   (48,053)  (793,930) 
Repayment of long term receivables   78,129  284,199 
Redemption/(purchase) of short term deposits   153,906  (11,082) 
Interest received   116,167  150,516 
Dividends received   400  18,398 

Cash (used in)/provided by investing activities   (168,141)  130,231 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities      
Long term loans received   1,739,272  958,311 
Long term loans repaid   (1,439,317)  (728,030) 
Dividends paid   (490,578)  (1,667,967) 
Interest paid   (305,713)  (237,276) 

Cash used in financing activities   (496,336)  (1,674,962) 

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    161,154  (661,848) 
Net effect of foreign currency translation on cash   8,635  16,646 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   667,505  1,312,707 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR   837,294  667,505 
 

Seprod Limited
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 December 2017
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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Seprod Limited 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 
Year ended 31 December 2017 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 

 Note  2017 
$’000  2016 

$’000 
Group costs recovered from subsidiaries   846,988  738,445 
Finance and other operating income 6  393,263 1,682,168 
Administration expenses 7  (1,513,966) (838,899) 

Operating (Loss)/Profit   (273,715) 1,581,714 
Finance costs 9  (190,453) (185,589) 

(Loss)/Profit before Taxation   (464,168) 1,396,125 
Taxation 10  (53,082) (151,086) 

Net (Loss)/Profit 11  (517,250) 1,245,039 
Other Comprehensive Income, net of taxes     
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss -     
 Re-measurements of post-employment benefits 10  3,150 166,725 
Item that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss -     
 Unrealised fair value losses on available-for-sale investments 10  (126,345) (132,385) 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME   (640,445) 1,279,379 
 
 

Seprod Limited
Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 December 2017
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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Seprod Limited 
Statement of Financial Position  
31 December 2017 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 

 

 
Note 

 2017 
$’000 

 
Restated 

2016 
$’000 

 Restated 
2015 
$’000 

Non-current Assets        

 761,454  072,725  41 tnempiuqe dna tnalp ,ytreporP  257,646 

 919,594,1  475,963,1  71 stnemtsevni elas-rof-elbaliavA  1,628,304 

 010,893,1  881,928,4  81 seiraidisbus ni tnemtsevnI  1,398,107 

 411,434  411,434  81 erutnev tnioj ni tnemtsevnI  434,114 

 474,134,3  943,501,2  91 selbaviecer mret gnoL  2,553,392 

 003,04  005,83  02 stessa tifeneb tnemyolpme-tsoP  - 

 -  -  82 stessa xat derrefeD  64,223 

 489,352,7  599,303,9    6,335,786 

Current Assets        

 676,890,2  874,818,3  32 selbaviecer rehto dna edarT  110,256 

 696,74  210,864,1  91 selbaviecer mret gnol fo noitrop tnerruC  89,754 

 -  988,77   elbarevocer xaT  - 

 319,523,4  776,299   seiraidisbus morf euD  4,128,841 

 283,003  403,774   secnalab knab dna hsaC  1,097,907 

 766,277,6  063,438,6    5,426,758 

Current Liabilities        

 801,021,2  769,762,2  42  selbayaP  934,281 

 912,210,2  961,907,1  72 seitilibail mret gnol fo noitrop tnerruC  1,285,262 

 940,5  -   elbayap noitaxaT  9,116 

 042,157,2  092,272,5   seiraidisbus ot euD  1,676,709 

 616,888,6  624,942,9    3,905,368 

Net Current (Liabilities)/Assets )949,511(  )660,514,2(     1,521,390 

 530,831,7  929,888,6    7,857,176 

Equity        

Share capital  25  560,388  560,388  560,388 

 196,905  643,383  62  sevreser latipaC  642,076 

 906,005,5  139,594,4   sgninrae deniateR  5,756,812 

 886,075,6  566,934,5    6,959,276 

Non-current Liabilities        

 000,341  004,841  02 snoitagilbo tifeneb tnemyolpme-tsoP  297,900 

 420,973  000,002,1  72 seitilibail mret gnoL  600,000 

 323,54  468,001  82 seitilibail xat derrefeD  - 

 743,765  462,944,1    897,900 

 530,831,7  929,888,6    7,857,176 

 

 

Seprod Limited
Statement of Financial Position
Year ended 31 December 2017
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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Seprod Limited 
Statement of Changes in Equity  
Year ended 31 December 2017 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 

 

 

 
   Number             
of Shares   

Share 
Capital  

 Capital 
Reserve 

Retained 
Earnings Total 

  ‘000  $'000  $'000 $'000   $'000 

Balance at 1 January 2016, as restated  516,339 560,388 642,076 5,756,812 6,959,276 

Profit for the year  - - - 1,245,039 1,245,039 

Re-measurements on post-employment benefits  - - - 166,725 166,725 

Fair value losses on investments  - - (132,385) - (132,385) 

Total comprehensive income  - - (132,385) 1,411,764 1,279,379 

Transactions with owners:       

 Dividends paid (Note 13)  - - - (1,667,967) (1,667,967) 

Balance at 31 December 2016, as restated  516,339 560,388 509,691 5,500,609 6,570,688 

Loss for the year  - - - (517,250) (517,250) 

Re-measurements on post-employment benefits  - - - 3,150 3,150 

Fair value losses on investments  - - (126,345) - (126,345) 

Total comprehensive income  - - (126,345) (514,100) (640,445) 

Transactions with owners:       

 Dividends paid (Note 13)  - - - (490,578) (490,578) 

Balance at 31 December 2017  516,339 560,388 383,346 4,495,931 5,439,665 

 
 

Seprod Limited
Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended 31 December 2017
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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Seprod Limited 
Statement of Cash Flows  
Year ended 31 December 2017 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 

 
 
 

Note 
 2017 

$’000 
2016 
$’000 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities     
Cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 29  247,267 (1,422) 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities     
Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (106,878) (228,764) 
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment   - 8,112 
Issue of long term receivables   - (681,482) 
Repayment of long term receivables   45,677 45,064 
Interest received   111,773 681,243 
Dividends received   400 758,619 

Cash provided by investing activities   50,972 582,792 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities     
Long term loans received   1,672,626 963,512 
Long term loans repaid   (1,125,101) (507,289) 
Dividends paid   (490,578) (1,667,967) 
Interest paid   (187,163) (183,797) 

Cash used in financing activities   (130,216) (1,395,541) 

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    168,023 (814,171) 
Net effect of foreign currency translation on cash   8,899 16,646 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   300,382 1,097,907 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR   477,304 300,382 
 
 

Seprod Limited
Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 December 2017
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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Seprod Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2017 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 

 
1. Principal Activities and Operations 

Seprod Limited (“the Company”) is incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica. The Company is publicly listed on the Jamaica Stock 
Exchange, and has its registered office at 3 Felix Fox Boulevard, Kingston. 
 
The Company and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as “the Group”. 

 
 The Company’s subsidiaries and its joint venture entity, which are all incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica, except for Golden Grove 

Funding Limited which is incorporated and domiciled in St. Lucia, and their principal activities are as follows: 
 

Subsidiary Principal activities 

Belvedere Limited Agriculture 

Caribbean Products Company Limited Manufacture and sale of oils and fats 

Golden Grove Sugar Company Limited, and its subsidiary Sugar production 

- Golden Grove Funding Limited  Investments 

Industrial Sales Limited Sale of consumer products 

International Biscuits Limited Manufacture and sale of biscuit products 

Serge Island Dairies Limited Manufacture and sale of milk products and juices 

Serge Island Farms Limited Dairy farming 

Jamaica Edible Oils and Fats Company Limited  Dormant 

  

Joint venture entity Principal activities 

Jamaica Grain and Cereals Limited Manufacture and sale of corn and wheat products 
and cereals 

   
All subsidiaries are wholly owned, with the exception of Golden Grove Sugar Company Limited which is owned 71.2% by the 
Company.  
 
Jamaica Grain and Cereals Limited, a former subsidiary, became a 50% joint venture in 2015 following the disposal of 50% interest 
in the entity and the joint sharing of decision making responsibility with the other shareholder. 

 

Seprod Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2017
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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Seprod Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2017 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 

2. Significant Accounting Policies 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. The policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 
(a) Basis of preparation 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the financial statements of the Company standing alone (together 
referred to as the financial statements) have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) and IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. The financial statements 
have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets 
and biological assets at fair value through profit loss. 

  
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also 
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. Although these 
estimates are based on managements’ best knowledge of current events and action, actual results could differ from those 
estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 
significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4. 
 
Standards, interpretations and amendments to published accounting standards effective in the current financial year 
Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published that became effective during 
the current financial period. The Group has assessed the relevance of all such new standards, interpretations and amendments 
and has concluded that the following are relevant to its operations: 
 
Amendments to IAS 7, ‘Statement of Cash Flows’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017). In 
January 2016, the IASB published amendments to IAS 7 to improve information about an entity's financing activities. These 
amendments are as part of the IASB initiative to improve presentation and disclosure in financial reports. The adoption of these 
amendments resulted in additional disclosures of information enabling users to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from 
financing activities (Note 27). 
 
Amendments to IAS 12, ‘Income Taxes’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017). In January 2016, 
the IASB published amendments to IAS 12 clarifying specifically how to account for deferred tax assets related to debt 
instruments measured at fair value as well as clarifying the guidance for deferred tax assets in general by adding examples and 
elaborating on some of the requirements in more detail.  The amendments do not change the underlying principles for the 
recognition of deferred tax assets.  There was no significant impact on the Group’s financial statements arising from the 
adoption of the amendments. 
 
Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been early adopted 
by the Group 
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing 
standards have been issued which are mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 or later 
periods, but were not effective at the date of the statement of financial position. The Group has assessed the relevance of all such 
new standards, interpretations and amendments, and has determined that the following may be immediately relevant to its 
operations, and has concluded as follows: 
 
IFRS 9, 'Financial Instruments' (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018).  The standard introduces 
new requirements for the classification, measurement and recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities, in order to ensure 
that relevant and useful information is presented to users of financial statements. It replaces the multiple classification and 
measurement models in IAS 39 with a single model that has only two classification categories: amortised cost and fair value. The 
determination of classification is made at initial recognition, and depends on the entity’s business model for managing its financial 
instruments and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument. 
 
IFRS 9 introduces a new model for the recognition of impairment losses – the expected credit losses model. There is a ‘three stage’ 
approach which is based on the change in credit quality of financial assets since initial recognition. In practice, the new rules mean 
that entities have to record an immediate loss equal to the 12-month expected credit losses on initial recognition of financial assets 
that are not credit impaired (or lifetime expected credited losses for trade receivables). Where there has been a significant increase 
in credit risk, impairment is measured using lifetime expected credit losses rather than 12-month expected credit losses. The 
model includes operational simplifications for lease and trade receivables. The analysis of the impact of the new impairment model 
requires the identification of the credit risk associated with counterparties. The counterparties are for trade receivables from 
customers for products sold. In determining the level of impairment, the Group will use a provisions matrix for trade receivables 
reflecting past experience of losses incurred due to default as well as forward looking information. 
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2.   Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

(a) Basis of preparation (continued) 
Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been early adopted 
by the Group (continued) 
IFRS 9, 'Financial Instruments’ (continued) 
There is no expected impact on the Group's accounting for financial liabilities, as the new requirements only impact financial 
liabilities that are designated at fair value through profit or loss, and the Group does not currently have any such liabilities. 
 
Changes in accounting policies resulting from adoption will be applied retrospectively as at 1 January 2018, but with no 
restatement of comparative information for prior years. Consequently, the Group will recognise any adjustments to the carrying 
amounts of financial assets between IAS 39 and IFRS 9 in the opening retained earnings.   

 
IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ (effective for the periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018). The new 
standard introduces the core principle that revenue must be recognised when the goods or services are transferred to the 
customer, at the transaction price. Any bundled goods or services that are distinct must be separately recognised, and any 
discounts or rebates on the contract price must generally be allocated to the separate elements. When the consideration varies for 
any reason, minimum amounts must be recognised if they are not at significant risk of reversal. Costs incurred to secure contracts 
with customers have to be capitalised and amortised over the period when the benefits of the contract are consumed. The Group 
is currently assessing the impact of future adoption of the new standard on its financial statements. 
 
Amendment to IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’ (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after  
1 January 2018). These amendments comprise clarifications of the guidance on identifying performance obligations, accounting 
for licences of intellectual property and the principal versus agent assessment (gross versus net revenue presentation). The IASB 
has also included additional practical expedients related to transition to the new revenue standard. 
 
Annual Improvements 2014-2016, (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018). The IASB issued its 
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 cycles amending a number of standards, the following of which are relevant to the 
Group: Amendment to IFRS 12, ‘Disclosure of interests in other entities’ which clarified the scope of the standard; and Amendment 
to IAS 28, ‘Investments in associates and joint ventures’ which clarified that the election to measure at fair value through profit or 
loss an investment in an associate or a joint venture that is held by an entity that is a venture capital organisation, or other 
qualifying entity, is available for each investment in an associate or joint venture on an investment-by-investment basis, upon 
initial recognition. The Group is currently assessing the impact of future adoption of the amendments on its financial statements. 
 
IFRIC 22, ‘Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after  
1 January 2018). The Interpretation covers foreign currency transactions when an entity recognises a non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the payment or receipt of advance consideration before the entity recognises the related asset, 
expense or income. It does not apply when an entity measures the related asset, expense or income on initial recognition at fair 
value or at the fair value of the consideration received or paid at a date other than the date of initial recognition of the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability. Also, the Interpretation need not be applied to income taxes, insurance contracts or 
reinsurance contracts. The Group is currently assessing the impact of future adoption of the amendments on its financial 
statements. 
 
IFRS 16, ‘Leases’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019). In January 2016, the IASB published IFRS 
16 which replaces the current guidance in IAS 17. Under IAS 17, lessees were required to make a distinction between a finance 
lease (on balance sheet) and an operating lease (off balance sheet). IFRS 16 now requires lessees to recognise a lease liability 
reflecting future lease payments and a ‘right-of-use asset’ for virtually all lease contracts. There is an optional exemption for lessees 
for certain short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.  The Group is assessing the impact of future adoption of the 
amendments on its financial statements. 
 
IFRIC 23, ‘Uncertainty over income tax treatments’ (effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2019). This 
Interpretation clarifies how the recognition and measurement requirements of IAS 12 ‘Income taxes’, are applied where there is 
uncertainty over income tax treatments. The Interpretation had previously clarified that IAS 12, not IAS 37 ‘Provisions, contingent 
liabilities and contingent assets’, applies to accounting for uncertain income tax treatments. The Interpretation explains how to 
recognise and measure deferred and current income tax assets and liabilities where there is uncertainty over a tax treatment. The 
Group does not expect any significant impact from the adoption of this Interpretation. 
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2.   Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

(b) Basis of consolidation  
Consolidation of subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when 
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the 
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.  
 
The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the 
acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the 
Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration 
arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent 
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling 
interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets. 
 
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost is adjusted to reflect changes in consideration arising 
from contingent consideration amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable costs of investment. 
 
The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date 
fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets 
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain 
purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the profit or loss. 
 
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between the Group companies are 
eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the Group. 
 
Loans to subsidiaries that are intended to provide subsidiaries with a long-term source of additional capital are considered 
additions to the Company’s investment. Accordingly, these loans are included in Investment in Subsidiaries on the Company’s 
statement of financial position. 
 
Transactions with non-controlling interests 
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as equity transactions; i.e., as 
transactions with owners in their capacity as owners. For purchases from non-controlling interests, the difference between any 
consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains 
or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity. 
 
When the Group ceases to have control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value, 
with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of 
subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly 
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
are reclassified to profit or loss. 
 
Joint ventures 
Investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures depending on the contractual right 
and obligations of each investor. The Group has assessed the nature of its joint arrangement and has determined it to be a joint 
venture. The Group’s interest in the joint venture is accounted for using the equity accounting method.  Under the equity 
accounting method, investments in joint ventures are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost as adjusted 
for the post acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of the joint venture, less any impairment.  
 
The Group’s share of its joint ventures’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the income statement, and its share of 
post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in other comprehensive income.  Losses of the joint venture in excess of the 
group’s interest are not recognised unless the group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of 
the joint venture. Unrealised gains on transactions between the group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the 
group’s interest in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an 
impairment of the asset transferred. 
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2.    Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
   

(c) Revenue and income recognition 
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods in the ordinary course of the 
Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of General Consumption Tax, returns, rebates and discounts and after eliminating sales 
within the Group. Revenue is recognised as follows: 
 
Sales of goods – wholesale 
Sales of goods are recognised when a Group entity has delivered products to the customer, the customer has accepted the products 
and collectability of the related receivables is reasonably assured. Some products are often sold with a right of return.  
 
Sales of goods – retail 
Sales of goods are recognised when a Group entity sells a product to the customer. It is the Group’s policy to sell its products to the 
end customer with a right of return.  
 
Interest income 
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method. When a receivable is impaired, the 
Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted at original effective 
interest rate of the instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. 
 
Dividend income 
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. 
 

(d) Foreign currency translation 
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates, referred to as the functional currency. The functional currency of each entity is the same 
as its presentation currency. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Jamaican dollars, which is also the Company’s 
functional currency. 
 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from such transactions and from the translation of foreign currency 
monetary assets and liabilities at the year end exchange rates are recognised in profit or loss.   
 
Translation differences resulting from changes in the amortised cost of foreign currency monetary assets classified as available-
for-sale are recognised in profit or loss. Other changes in the fair value of these assets are recognised in other comprehensive 
income. Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets classified as available-for-sale are reported as a component of 
the fair value gain or loss in other comprehensive income. 
 

(e) Segment reporting 
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the 
operating segments, has been identified as the Executive Committee that makes strategic decisions. 
 

(f) Property, plant and equipment  
Buildings, plant and equipment are recorded at cost or deemed cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. All 
other property, plant and equipment are carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation, except land, which is not 
depreciated. Depreciation is calculated on the straight line basis at such rates as will write off the carrying value of the assets over 
the period of their expected useful lives. The expected useful lives are as follows: 
 

Buildings   30 – 50 years  
Plant, equipment and furniture   3 – 40 years  
Motor vehicles  3 - 5 years  

 
Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down to its recoverable 
amount. 
 
Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment are determined by reference to their carrying amount and are 
taken into account in determining profit. Repairs and maintenance expenditure is charged to profit or loss during the financial 
period in which it is incurred. 
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2.   Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(g) Intangible assets 
Brands 
Brands obtained by the Group in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. These brands are 
deemed to have a finite useful life, and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the 
straight line method to allocate the carrying value of brands over their estimated useful lives. 
 

(h) Impairment of non-financial assets 
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation but are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are 
subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset 
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the greater of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purpose of 
assessing impairment, assets are Grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identified cash flows. Non-financial 
assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 
 

(i) Financial assets 
Classification 
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, and 
available for sale. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines 
the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.  
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified in this category 
if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. Assets in this category are classified as current assets if expected 
to be settled within 12 months, otherwise they are classified as non-current. 
 
Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 
These are classified as non-current assets. The Group’s loans and receivables comprise ‘trade and other receivables’, long term 
receivables and ‘cash and cash equivalents’. 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets 
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classified in any of the other 
categories. They are included in non-current assets unless the investment matures or management intends to dispose of it within 
12 months of the end of the reporting period. 
 
Recognition and measurement 
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade-date – the date on which the Group commits to 
purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried 
at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value, 
and transaction costs are expensed in profit or loss. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from 
the investments have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership. Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried at 
fair value. Loans and receivables are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
 
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category are 
presented in profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income within ‘Finance and Other Operating Income in the period 
in which they arise. Dividend income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in profit or loss in the 
statement of comprehensive income as part of finance and other operating income when the Group’s right to receive payments is 
established. 
 
Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-monetary securities classified as available-for-sale are recognised in other 
comprehensive income. When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value 
adjustments recognised in equity are included in profit or loss as ‘Gains and losses from investment securities’. Interest on 
available-for-sale securities calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in the profit or loss in the statement of 
comprehensive income as part of other income. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss 
as part of finance and other operating income when the Group’s right to receive payments is established. 
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2.   Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(j) Impairment of financial assets  
Assets carried at amortised cost 
The Group assesses, at the end of each reporting period, whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or Group of 
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a Group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if 
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset 
(a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or Group of 
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. 
 
Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a Group of debtors is experiencing significant financial 
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other 
financial reorganisation, and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash 
flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. 
 
For loans and receivables category, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the 
financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised 
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. If a loan or held-to-maturity investment has a variable interest rate, the 
discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract. As a practical 
expedient, the Group may measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an observable market price. 
 
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of the 
previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
 
Assets classified as available-for-sale 
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a Group of 
financial assets is impaired. For debt securities, the Group uses the criteria referred to in (a) above. In the case of equity 
investments classified as available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is also 
evidence that the assets are impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – 
measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset 
previously recognised in profit or loss – is removed from equity and recognised in statement of comprehensive income. 
Impairment losses recognised in the arriving at profit or loss on equity instruments are not reversed through the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available for sale 
increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in arriving at 
profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
 

(k) Biological assets 
Livestock 
Livestock is measured at its fair value less point of sale costs. Fair value is determined based on market prices of assets of similar 
age, breed and genetic merit. 
 
Sugar cane 
Sugar cane is measured at its fair value, less estimated point of sale costs. Fair value is determined based on market prices of sugar 
and its by product, molasses. Changes in fair value of biological assets are recognised in profit or loss. 
 

(l) Inventories 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value, cost being determined using the weighted average cost method. 
The cost of finished goods and work in progress includes cost of raw materials used, direct labour and an appropriate proportion 
of overhead expenses. The cost of merchandise for resale are determined using weighted average cost method. Net realisable value 
is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the cost of selling expenses. 
 

(m) Trade receivables 
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. 
If collection is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current 
assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets. 
 
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less provision for impairment. 
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2.   Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(n) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with 
original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts.  
 

(o) Payables 
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired n the ordinary course of business from 
suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating 
cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. Trade payables are recognised initially at fair 
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
 

(p) Borrowings 
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at 
amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the profit 
or loss in the statement of comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.  
 
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that 
some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no 
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity 
services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates. 
 

(q) Provisions 
Provisions for legal claims are recognised when: the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; 
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. 
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. 
 
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by 
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any 
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small. 
 
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in 
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.  
 

(r) Leases 
Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating 
leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.  
 

(s) Income taxes 
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates in force at the reporting date, and any 
adjustment to tax payable and tax losses in respect of previous years. 
 
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities and the corresponding tax bases. Currently enacted tax rates are used in the determination of deferred 
income tax. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the 
temporary differences can be utilised. 
 
Deferred tax is charged or credited to profit or loss, except where it relates to items charged or credited to other comprehensive 
income or equity, in which case, deferred tax is also dealt with in other comprehensive income or equity. 
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2.   Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(t) Employee benefits 
Pension obligations 
Defined benefit plan 
The Group operates a defined benefit plan, the assets of which are generally held in a separate trustee-administered fund. A defined 
benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit to be provided, usually as a function of one or more factors 
such as age, years of service or compensation.  
 
The amount recognised in the statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation at the statement of financial position date less the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation 
is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit 
obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality Government of 
Jamaica bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity 
approximating to the terms of the related pension liability. 
 
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to 
equity in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. Past-service costs are recognised immediately in income. 
 
Defined contribution plan 
The employees of the Group also participate in an Individual Retirement Scheme operated by an independent insurance Company.  
The Group makes fixed contributions to the scheme for participating employees.  The Group has no obligation for the benefits 
provided under the scheme as these are payable by, and accounted for by the insurance Company. Accordingly, the Group 
recognises a cost equal to its contributions payable in respect of each accounting period in the statement of comprehensive income. 
 
Other post-employment benefits 
The Group provides post-employment healthcare benefits to its retirees. The entitlement to these benefits is usually conditional 
on the employee remaining in service up to retirement age and the completion of a minimum service period. The expected costs 
of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment using the same accounting methodology as used for defined benefit 
pension plans. Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged 
or credited to equity in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.  These obligations are valued annually by 
independent qualified actuaries. 
 
Termination benefits 
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group before the normal retirement date, or whenever 
an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits at the 
earlier of the following dates: (a) when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the entity 
recognises costs for a restructuring that is within the scope of IAS 37 and involves the payment of termination benefits. In the case 
of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based on the number of employees 
expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are discounted to their 
present value. 
 
Profit share scheme 
The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses, based on a formula that takes into consideration the profit 
attributable to the Company’s equity holders after certain adjustments.  
 

(u) Dividends 
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the period 
in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s directors. 
 

(v) Share capital 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares or options are 
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 
 
Where any Group Company purchases the Company’s equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration paid, including any 
directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders 
until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such ordinary shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration received, net 
of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to 
the Company’s equity holders.  
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3. Financial Risk Management 

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash 
flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the 
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.  
 
The Group’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, 
and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable and up-to-date information systems. The Group regularly 
reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect changes in markets, products and emerging best practice. 
 
The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework.  
The board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as 
foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative financial instruments, 
and investment of excess liquidity. The Board has established committees/departments for managing and monitoring risks, as 
follows: 
 
Central treasury department 
The central treasury department is responsible for managing the Group’s financial assets and liabilities and the overall financial 
structure. It is also primarily responsible for the funding and liquidity risks of the Group. Group treasury identifies, evaluates and 
manages financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s operating units. 
 
Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management policies and procedures 
and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Audit Committee is 
assisted in its oversight role by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management 
controls and procedures, the result of which are reported to the Audit Committee. 
 
The most important types of risk are credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. Market risk for the Group includes currency risk, 
interest rate and other price risk. 
 
(a) Credit risk 

The Group takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that its customers, clients or counterparties will cause a financial loss 
for the Group by failing to discharge their contractual obligations. Credit risk is the most important risk for the Group’s business; 
management therefore carefully manages its exposure to credit risk. Credit exposures arise principally from the Group’s receivables 
from customers and its holdings of investments.  The Group structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the 
amount of risk accepted in relation to a single counterparty or Groups of related counterparties and industry segments. 
 
Investments 
The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by investing mainly in liquid securities, with counterparties that have high credit quality, 
and in Government of Jamaica securities.  Accordingly, management does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.   
 
Cash and bank balances 
Cash transactions are limited to high credit quality financial institutions. The Group has policies that limit the amount of credit 
exposure to any financial institution. 
 
Trade receivables 
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. The executive committee 
has established a credit policy under which each customer is analysed individually for creditworthiness prior to the Group offering 
them a credit facility. Credit limits are assigned to each customer, which represents the maximum credit allowable without approval 
from the Board. The Group has procedures in place to restrict customer orders if the order will exceed their credit limits. Customers 
that fail to meet the Group’s benchmark creditworthiness may transact with the Group on a prepayment basis. 
 
Customer credit risk is monitored according to their credit characteristics such as whether it is an individual or Company, industry, 
aging profile, and previous financial difficulties. Trade receivables relate mainly to the Group’s wholesale customers.  
 
The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade receivables. 
The Group addresses impairment assessment in two areas: individually assessed allowances and collectively assessed allowances. 
 
The Group’s average credit period on the sale of goods is 30 days. Trade receivables over 30 days are provided for based on an 
estimate of amounts that would be irrecoverable, determined by taking into consideration past default experience, current 
economic conditions and expected receipts and recoveries once impaired. 

  

Seprod Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2017
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 7 MADE BY SEPROD, MUST BE GOOD79



Page 19  

Seprod Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2017 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 

3.   Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 
Ageing analysis of trade receivables that are past due but not impaired 
Trade receivables that are less than 90 days past due are not considered impaired. The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are 
past due but not considered impaired is as follows: 

 The Group  The Company 
 2017  2016  2017  2016 
 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

30 – 60 days 326,640  412,466  -  - 
60 – 90 days 72,740  139,341  -  - 
Greater than 90 days 188,747  70,176  -  - 

 588,127  621,983  -  - 
 
Ageing analysis of trade receivables that are past due and considered impaired 
Trade receivables of $128,524,000 (2016 – $110,705,000) for the Group and $Nil (2016 – $3,619,000) for the Company were 
considered impaired and were fully provided for. The individually impaired receivables mainly relate to wholesalers who are in 
unexpected difficult economic situations. All of the aforementioned impaired receivables balances were greater than 90 days old.  
 
Movement in the provision for impairment of trade receivables 
The movement in the provision for impairment of trade receivables is as follows: 

 The Group  The Company 
 2017  2016  2017  2016 
 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

At start of year 110,705  82,442  3,619  3,619 
Amounts recovered during the year (8,664)  (18,935)  -  - 
Provided during the year 67,873  102,121  -  - 
Written off during the year (41,390)  (54,923)  (3,619)  - 
At end of year 128,524  110,705  -  3,619 

 
The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables have been included in administration expenses in profit and loss. 
Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash. 
 
There are no financial assets other than trade receivables that were individually impaired. 
 
Trade receivables by customer sector 
The credit exposure for trade receivables at their carrying amounts, as categorised by the customer sector, is as follows: 

 The Group  The Company 
 2017  2016  2017  2016 
 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Supermarket chains 69,259  95,155  -  - 
Retailers & Wholesalers 784,227  854,787  -  - 
Distributors 356,997  267,688  -  - 
Manufacturers 71,845  67,145  -  - 
Others 85,288  100,744  -  3,619 
 1,367,616  1,385,519  -  3,619 
Less: Provision for impairment (128,524)  (110,705)  -  (3,619) 
 1,239,092  1,274,814  -  - 

 
The majority of the Group’s trade receivables are receivable from customers in Jamaica.  
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3.   Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(b) Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its financial liabilities when they 
fall due. Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of funding 
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions.  
 
Liquidity risk management process 
The Group’s liquidity management process, as carried out within the Group and monitored by the central treasury department, 
includes: (i) monitoring future cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis. This incorporates an assessment of expected cash flows 
and the availability of high grade collateral which could be used to secure funding if required; (ii) maintaining a portfolio of 
highly marketable and diverse assets that can easily be liquidated as protection against any unforeseen interruption to cash 
flow; (iii) maintaining committed lines of credit; (iv) optimising cash returns on investments; and (v) managing the 
concentration and profile of debt maturities. 
 
Undiscounted contractual cash flows of financial liabilities 
The maturity profile of financial liabilities, based on contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows: 

  The Group 

 Within 1 
Month  

1 to 3  
Months 

 3 to 12  
Months  

 1 to 5 
 Years  

Over 
5 years Total   

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 $’000  
 2017 

Long term liabilities 130,349 1,052,383 1,031,489 2,171,953 43,806 4,429,980 
Trade payables 1,921,358 - - - - 1,921,358 
Due to affiliates 4,169,943 - - - - 4,169,943 
Other payables 210,971 - - - - 210,971 
 6,432,621 1,052,383 1,031,489 2,171,953 43,806 10,732,252 

 2016  
Long term liabilities 31,137 156,801 2,174,498 1,237,611 77,462 3,677,509 
Trade payables 1,640,404 - - - - 1,640,404 
Due to affiliates 2,103,555 - - - - 2,103,555 
Other payables 304,693 - - - - 304,693 
 4,079,789 156,801 2,174,498 1,237,611 77,462 7,726,161 

 
 The Company 

 Within 1 
Month  

1 to 3  
Months 

 3 to 12  
Months  

 1 to 5 
 Years  Total   

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  
 2017 

Long term liabilities 56,564 977,508 806,375 1,620,000 3,460,447 
Due to subsidiaries 5,272,290 - - - 5,272,290 
Due to affiliates 1,854,836 - - - 1,854,836 
Other payables 178,261 - - - 178,261 
 7,361,951 977,508 806,375 1,620,000 10,765,834 

 2016 
Long term liabilities 17,689 112,321 2,036,530 393,036 2,559,576 
Due to subsidiaries 2,751,240 - - - 2,751,240 
Due to affiliates 1,743,364 - - - 1,743,364 
Other payables 238,377 - - - 238,377 
 4,750,670 112,321 2,036,530 393,036 7,292,557 

 
Assets available to meet all of the liabilities and to cover financial liabilities include cash and investments.  
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3.   Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(c) Market risk 
The Group takes on exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks mainly arise from changes in foreign currency exchange rates and 
interest rates. Market risk is monitored by the Group treasury department which carries out extensive research and monitors the 
price movement of financial assets on the local and international markets.  Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity 
analysis. 
 
There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk. 
 
Currency risk 
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign 
exchange rates. 
 
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from currency exposures, primarily with respect to the US dollar, Euro, Pound 
Sterling and the Canadian dollar. Foreign exchange risk arises primarily from transactions for purchases and sales and investing 
and financing activities. The statement of financial position for the Group at 31 December 2017 includes aggregate net foreign assets 
of US$14,981,000 and £216,000 (2016 – aggregate net foreign assets of US$29,009,000, £133,000 and (CND$7,000)); while the 
statement of financial position for the Company at 31 December 2017 includes aggregate net foreign assets of US$26,443,000, 
£48,000 (2016 – aggregate net foreign assets of US$16,351,000, £184,000), in respect of such transactions. 
 
The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by ensuring that the net exposure in foreign assets and liabilities is kept to an 
acceptable level by monitoring currency positions.  The Group further manages this risk by maximising foreign currency earnings 
and holding foreign currency balances. 
 
The following table indicates the effect on profit before taxation and on other items of equity arising from changes in foreign 
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis represents outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their 
translation at the year end for a 4% devaluation/2% revaluation (2016 - 6% devaluation/1% revaluation) change in foreign 
currency rates, which represents management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange rates.  The sensitivity was 
primarily as a result of foreign exchange gains and losses on translation of US dollar-denominated long term receivables, trade 
receivables, investment securities classified as available-for-sale, payables and long term liabilities.  

 The Group  The Company 
 2017  2016  2017  2016 
 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Effect on profit before taxation -        
US$        
4% devaluation (2016 – 6%) 17,168  39,371  76,404  116,103 
2% revaluation (2016 – 1%) (8,584)  (236,225)  (38,202)  (14,513) 
Other currencies        
4% devaluation (2016 – 6%) 1,468  202  328  1,734 
2% revaluation (2016 – 1%) (734)  (1,216)  (164)  (289) 

        
Effect on other items of equity -        

US$        
4% devaluation (2016 – 6%) 57,167  89,755  57,167  89,755 
2% revaluation (2016 – 1%) (28,583)  (14,959)  (28,583)  (14,959) 
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3.   Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates. Floating rate instruments expose the Group to cash flow interest risk, whereas fixed interest rate instruments expose 
the Group to fair value interest risk. 
 
Seprod Group’s interest rate risk policy requires it to manage interest rate risk by maintaining an appropriate mix of fixed and 
variable rate instruments.  The policy also requires it to manage the maturities of interest bearing financial assets and interest 
bearing financial bearing liabilities.  
 
The Group’s interest rate risk arises from long term borrowings and available-for-sale debt instruments. The sensitivity of the profit 
or loss is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on profit before taxation based on floating rate borrowing and available-
for-sale debt instruments.  The sensitivity of other components of equity is calculated by revaluing fixed rate available-for-sale 
investments for the effects of the assumed changes in interest rates.   
 
The following table indicates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible 1%/(1%) increase/(decrease) in interest rates in respect of 
Jamaican dollar denominated instruments (2016 – 1%/(1%) increase/decrease) and a 1.0%/(0.5%) increase/(decrease) in respect 
of United States dollar denominated instruments (2016 – 1%/(0.5%) increase/decrease), with all other variables held constant, on 
profit before taxation and other components of equity. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Change in basis 
points 

Effect on 
 Profit before 

Taxation 

Effect on 
Other 

Components of 
Equity 

Change in 
basis 

points 

Effect on 
 Profit before 

Taxation 

Effect on 
Other 

Components of 
Equity 

2017 
JMD / USD 

2017 
$’000 

2017 
$’000 

2016 
JMD / USD 

2016 
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

The Group 
+100/+100 (9,369) - +100/+100 7,354 - 

-100/-50 4,684 - -100/-50 (3,677) - 

      
The Company 

+100/+100 (9,369) - +100/+100 12,418 - 
-100/-50 4,684 - -100/-50 (6,209) - 
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3.   Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
Interest rate risk (continued) 
The following tables summarise the exposure to interest rate risk. It includes the financial instruments at carrying amounts, 
categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates. 

 The Group 

 
Within 1 

Month  
 1 to 3 

Months 
3 to 12 

Months  
 1 to 5 
Years  

Over  
5 Years  

Non-
Interest 
Bearing Total   

 $’000  $’000  $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 
 2017 

Financial assets        
Available-for-sale investments - - - - - 1,369,574 1,369,574 
Long term receivables 5,061 11,160 953,398 2,761,239 - - 3,730,858 
Trade and other receivables - - - - - 5,782,616 5,782,616 
Cash and bank 818,534 - - - - 18,760 837,294 
 823,595 11,160 953,398 2,761,239 - 7,170,950 11,720,342 
Financial liabilities        
Long term liabilities 80,287 1,261,004 638,109 1,690,065 60,043 - 3,729,508 
Payables - - - - - 6,302,272 6,302,272 
 80,287 1,261,004 638,109 1,690,065 60,043 6,302,272 10,031,780 
Total interest repricing gap 743,308 (1,249,844) 315,289 1,071,174 (60,043) 868,678 1,688,562 

 2016 (Restated) 
Financial assets        
Available-for-sale investments - - - - - 1,495,919 1,495,919 
Long term receivables - 28,743 - 356,945 2,843,547 391,126 3,620,361 
Trade and other receivables - - - - - 3,680,904 3,680,904 
Short term deposits - - 153,906 - - - 153,906 
Cash and bank 648,485 - - - - 19,020 667,505 
 648,485 28,743 153,906 356,945 2,843,547 5,586,969 9,618,595 
Financial liabilities        
Long term liabilities 8,383 1,227,744 222,903 1,764,572 72,624 132,271 3,428,497 
Payables - - - - - 4,048,652 4,048,652 
 8,383 1,227,744 222,903 1,764,572 72,624 4,180,923 7,477,149 
Total interest repricing gap 640,102 (1,199,001) (68,997) (1,407,627) 2,770,923 1,406,046 2,141,446 
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3.   Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
Interest rate risk (continued) 

 The Company 

 
Within 1 

Month  
 1 to 3 

Months 
3 to 12 

Months  
 1 to 5 
Years  

Over  
5 Years  

Non-
Interest 
Bearing Total   

 $’000  $’000  $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 
 2017 

Financial assets        
Available-for-sale investments - - - - - 1,369,574 1,369,574 
Long term receivables 3,720 11,160 935,618 2,622,863 - - 3,573,361 
Trade and other receivables - - - - - 3,754,842 3,754,842 
Due from subsidiaries - - - - - 992,677 992,677 
Cash and bank 477,230 - - - - 74 477,304 
 480,950 11,160 935,618 2,622,863 - 6,117,167 10,167,758 
Financial liabilities       
Long term liabilities - 1,205,693 463,598 1,214,104 - - 2,883,395 
Payables - - - - - 1,854,836 1,854,836 
Due to subsidiaries - - - - - 5,272,290 5,272,290 
 - 1,205,693 463,598 1,214,104 - 7,127,126 10,010,521 
Total interest repricing gap 480,950 (1,194,533) 472,020 1,408,759 - (1,009,959) 157,237 

 2016 (Restated) 
Financial assets        
Available-for-sale investments - - - - - 1,495,919 1,495,919 
Long term receivables 10,017 7,873 35,772 1,206,951 2,218,557 - 3,479,170 
Trade and other receivables - - - - - 2,032,860 2,032,860 
Due from subsidiaries - - - - - 4,325,913 4,325,913 
Cash and bank 300,305 - - - - 77  300,382 
 310,322 7,873 35,772 1,206,951 2,218,557 7,854,769 11,634,244 
Financial liabilities       
Long term liabilities - 81,391 1,939,063 370,789 - - 2,391,243 
Payables - - - - - 1,981,741 1,981,741 
Due to subsidiaries - - - - - 2,751,240 2,751,240 
 - 81,391 1,939,063 370,789 - 4,732,981    7,124,224 
Total interest repricing gap 310,322 (73,518) (1,903,291) 836,162 2,218,557 3,121,788 4,510,020 

 
Price risk 
Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, whether those 
changes are caused by factors specific to the individual instrument or its issuer or factors affecting all instruments traded in the 
market.  The Group is exposed to equity price risk because of investments held by the Group classified on the statement of financial 
position either as available-for-sale or at fair value through profit or loss.  The Group manages its price risk by trading these 
instruments when appropriate to reduce the impact of any adverse price fluctuations. 
 
Based on its holding of investments as at 31 December 2016 and 2017, there is no impact on the Group’s stockholders’ equity at 
either year end arising from changes in equity prices. 
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3.   Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(d) Capital management 
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to 
provide returns for stockholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the 
cost of capital. The Board of Directors monitors the return on capital, which the Group defines as net operating income, excluding 
non-recurring items, divided by total stockholders’ equity. The Board of Directors also monitors the level of dividends to 
stockholders. 
 

(e) Fair value estimates 
Fair values of financial instruments 
Financial instruments classified in level 1 
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the reporting date. A market 
is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry Group, pricing 
service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length 
basis. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price.  
 
At 31 December 2017, there were no financial instruments classified in Level 1. 
 
Financial instruments classified in level 2 
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation techniques. These 
valuation techniques maximize the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity 
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in Level 
2. Specific valuation techniques used to value such financial instruments include: (i) quoted market prices or dealer quotes for 
similar instruments; and (ii) other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are used to determine fair value for the 
remaining financial instruments. 
 
At 31 December 2017, there were no financial instruments classified in Level 2. 
 
Financial instruments classified in Level 3  
If one or more of the significant inputs for valuation is not based on observable market data, the financial instrument is included 
in Level 3, and fair value is determined using discounted cash flow analysis. 
 
At 31 December 2017, The Group and the Company had unquoted equites with a fair value of $1,369,574,000  
(2016 – $1,495,919,000) classified as available-for-sale and categorised as Level 3. 
 
The movement in these instruments is as follows: 

   2017  Restated 
2016 

   $’000  $’000 
At start of year  1,495,919 1,628,304 
Fair value losses  (80,899) (238,474) 

  Foreign exchange (losses)/gains    (45,446) 106,089 
At end of year  1,369,574 1,495,919 

 
There were no transfers between levels during the year. 
 
The following unobservable inputs were used to measure the Company’s Level 3 financial instruments: 

  
Unobservable 

Inputs 
Range of unobservable inputs 

(weighted average) 
Relationship of unobservable inputs 

to fair value 

  Discount rate 12.00% 
If the discount rate increases the fair 

value decreases 
 
Discounted cash flow valuation techniques were used to value the unquoted equities. 
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3.   Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(e) Fair value estimates 
Fair values of biological assets 
The Group measures the biological assets at fair value at each reporting date. In measuring the fair value of biological assets 
various management estimates and judgements are required.  The Group classifies its biological assets in Level 3 due to the 
unobservable inputs used in the termination of fair value for those assets, as described below. 
 
Livestock 
Estimates and judgements in determining the fair value of livestock relate to the market prices, use of animals and age of animals. 
Market prices of the animals are obtained from other players in the industry. 
 
Sugar cane 
Estimates and judgements in determining the fair value of sugar cane relate to the market prices of sugar and molasses, and 
certain cane to sugar conversion efficiency metrics known as the Jamaica Recovery Cane Sugar (JRCS). Market prices of the sugar 
and molasses are obtained from Jamaica Cane Products Sales Limited, the authorised sales agent for sugar in Jamaica. The JRCS 
is determined by the Sugar Industry Authority. 
 
The movement in the fair value of livestock is as follows: 

 2017 2016 
 $’000 $’000 
Opening balance 236,343 250,759 
Decreases due to sales (49,705) (69,980) 
Total gains or losses for the period included in profit or loss 105,990 55,564 
Closing balance 292,628 236,343 
Total gains or losses for the period included in profit or loss for assets held at 

the end of the reporting period, under ‘Changes in fair value less 
estimated point of sale costs of livestock’ and ‘Other operating income’ 105,990 55,564 

Change in unrealised gains or losses for the period included in profit or loss 
for assets held at the end of the reporting period 68,946 2,440 

 
The movement in the fair value of sugar cane is as follows: 

 2017 2016 
 $’000 $’000 

Opening balance 513,198 510,516 
Net cost of cane cultivation and value and cane harvested (233,173) (181,104) 
Total gains or losses for the period included in profit or loss 228,720 183,786 
Closing balance 508,745 513,198 
Total gains or losses for the period included in profit or loss for assets held at 

the end of the reporting period, under ‘Change in fair value less cost to sell 
of sugar cane’  228,720 183,786 

Change in unrealised gains or losses for the period included in profit or loss for 
assets held at the end of the reporting period (4,453) 2,682 
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3.   Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(e) Fair value estimates (continued) 
Fair values of biological assets (continued) 
The following unobservable inputs were used in determined the fair value of the Group’s livestock, using a market approach for 
valuation. 

Fair Value at 2017 

Unobservable Inputs 
Range of unobservable 

inputs (weighted average) 
Relationship of unobservable inputs to fair 

value 
Dairy livestock price $11,050 - $106,250 

($73,297) per animal 
The higher the market price, the higher the fair 

value. 
Other livestock price $7,013 - $99,623 

($70,778) per animal 
The higher the market price, the higher the fair 

value. 
 

Fair Value at 2016 

Unobservable Inputs 
Range of unobservable 

inputs (weighted average) 
Relationship of unobservable inputs to fair 

value 
Dairy livestock price $10,286 - $105,013 

($60,449) per animal 
The higher the market price, the higher the fair 

value. 
Other livestock price $6,458 - $99,623 

($45,360) per animal 
The higher the market price, the higher the fair 

value. 
 
The following unobservable inputs were used in determined the fair value of the Group’s sugar cane, using a market approach 
for valuation. 

               Fair Value at 2017 

Unobservable Inputs 
Range of unobservable 

inputs (weighted average) 
Relationship of unobservable inputs to fair 

value 
JRCS 8.94 The higher the JRCS, the higher the fair value. 

 
               Fair Value at 2016 

Unobservable Inputs 
Range of unobservable 

inputs (weighted average) 
Relationship of unobservable inputs to fair 

value 
JRCS 8.60 The higher the JRCS, the higher the fair value. 

 
Fair values of other financial assets and liabilities 
The following methods and assumptions have been used in determining fair values for instruments not re-measured at their fair 
value after initial recognition:  
 
The face value, less any estimated credit adjustments, for financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one year are 
estimated to approximate their fair values. These financial assets and liabilities include cash and bank balances, trade 
receivables (Note 23) and trade payables (Note 24). 
 
The carrying values of long term receivables (Note 19) approximate their fair values, as these receivables are carried at 
amortised cost and the interest rates are reflective of current market rates for similar transactions.  
 
The carrying values of long term loans (Note 27) approximate their fair values, as these loans are carried at amortised cost 
reflecting their contractual obligations and the interest rates are reflective of current market rates for similar transactions. 
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4. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies  

The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations 
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
Income taxes 
Estimates are required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are some transactions and calculations for which the 
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for possible tax issues 
based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the 
amounts that were originally recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which 
such determination is made.  

  
Post-employment benefit obligations 
The present value of the pension and other post-employment benefit obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined 
on an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net cost (or income) for post-
employment benefits include the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying amount of post-
employment benefit obligations. The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This is the interest rate 
that should be used to determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected to be required to settle the post-
employment benefit obligations. In determining the appropriate discount rate, the Group considers the interest rates of high-quality 
corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity 
approximating the terms of the related obligation. Other key assumptions for post-employment benefit obligations are based in part 
on current market conditions. Sensitivity disclosures in relation to changes in assumptions are disclosed in Note 20. 
 
Fair value of certain biological assets 
Livestock 
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management determines fair values of biological assets based on prices 
in the local market, less the transport and other costs of getting the assets to the market. The fair value is sensitive to certain 
assumptions used in the computation, the primary assumption being the price of the animals. For the valuation of biological assets 
at the year end, if the price per animal had changed by 5% with all other variables constant, the fair value would change accordingly 
by $14,631,000. 
 
Sugar cane 
The Group measures its biological assets at fair value less costs to sell. In doing this valuation for cane, the Group first determines a 
price per tonne of cane, based on the established price per tonne of sugar, and certain cane to sugar conversion efficiency metrics, as 
established by the Sugar Industry Authority (SIA), the regulatory body which oversees the local sugar industry. This price per tonne 
of fully grown cane is used as the base for determining the fair value for the cane in each field, at the various stages in the cane harvest 
cycle. In valuing the cane for each cane field in each cane farm, the Group estimates each field’s yield, by estimating the tonnes of cane 
to be reaped, per hectare of cane planted. The value of the cane considers the stage of growth of the cane, using certain assumptions 
regarding the relationship between the stage of growth of the cane and the cane’s value. The fair value is sensitive to the assumptions 
used in the computation, the primary assumptions being the prices of sugar and the sugar conversion efficiency metrics (JRCS). For 
the valuation of biological assets at the year end, if the sugar conversion efficiency metric had changed by 5%, with all other variables 
constant, the fair value would have changed accordingly by $28,787,000. 
 
Fair value of unquoted equities 
The fair value of securities not quoted in an active market are determined using valuation techniques. The Group exercises judgement 
and estimates on the quantity and quality of cashflow projections used. Where no market data is available, the Group values positions 
using its own models, which are usually based on valuation methods and techniques generally recognised as standard for this 
purpose. The inputs into these models are primarily discounted cash flows. The models used to determine fair values are reviewed 
by external experts. The fair value is sensitive to the assumptions used in the computation, the primary assumptions being the 
discount rate of 12% and a market participant minority discount of 20%.  For the valuation of unquoted ordinary shares at the year-
end, if the discount rate had increased/decreased to 13%/11% with all other variables constant, the fair value would 
decrease/increase from US$5,300,000 to US$3,840,000/US$7,130,000. 
 
Joint venture 
The joint venture agreements in relation to the Jamaica Grain and Cereals Limited require unanimous consent from all parties for all 
relevant activities. The partners have  rights to the  net assets of the arrangement. This entity is therefore classified as a joint venture 
and the Group recognises its share of the results for the year. 
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5. Business Segments  

The Group is organised into two main business segments: 
 

(i) Manufacturing – This incorporates the operations for manufacturing and sale of oils and fats, corn and wheat products, cereals, milk 
products, juices, sugar and biscuits. 

 
(ii) Distribution – The merchandising of consumer goods. 

 
  2017 

  Manufacturing  Distribution  Eliminations  Group 

  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 
External revenue  9,636,861  6,874,345  -  16,511,206 
Inter-segment revenue  4,975,998  -  (4,975,998)  - 

Total revenue  14,612,859  6,874,345  (4,975,998)  16,511,206 

         
Segment result  961,210  74,964  -  1,036,174 

Unallocated corporate income        294,795 

Operating profit        1,330,969 

         
Segment assets  8,450,424  1,327,770  -  9,778,194 

Unallocated corporate assets        10,229,862 

Total consolidated assets        20,008,056 

         
Segment liabilities  3,842,154  1,771,833  -  5,613,987 

Unallocated corporate liabilities        5,384,257 

Total consolidated liabilities        10,998,244 

Other segment items –          
Capital expenditure  366,415  954  -  367,369 

Unallocated capital expenditure        106,878 

Total capital expenditure        474,247 

         
Depreciation  439,782  6,005  -  445,787 

Unallocated depreciation        32,435 

Total depreciation        478,222 
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5.   Business Segments (Continued) 
 

  2016 (Restated) 

  Manufacturing  Distribution  Eliminations  Group 

  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 
External revenue  9,063,038  6,718,879  -  15,781,917 
Inter-segment revenue  4,612,121  -  (4,612,121)  - 

Total revenue  13,675,159  6,718,879  (4,612,121)  15,781,917 

         
Segment result  674,823  90,593  -  765,416 

Unallocated corporate income        823,300 

Operating profit        1,588,716 

         
Segment assets  7,536,809  1,412,056  -  8,948,865 
Unallocated corporate assets, as 

restated        8,267,885 

Total consolidated assets, as 
restated        17,216,750 

         
Segment liabilities  3,854,179  365,747  -  4,219,926 

Unallocated corporate liabilities        4,021,082 

Total consolidated liabilities        8,241,008 

Other segment items –          
Capital expenditure  476,939  2,761  -  479,700 

Unallocated capital expenditure        228,764 

Total capital expenditure        708,464 

         
Depreciation  453,657  6,132  -  459,789 

Unallocated depreciation        28,756 

Total depreciation        488,545 
 
The Group’s customers are mainly resident in, and operate from, Jamaica. Revenues of $15,214,496,000 (2016 - $14,906,124,000) 
were earned from Jamaican customers, while revenues of $1,296,710,000 (2016 - $875,793,000) were earned from customers 
resident in other countries.  
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6. Finance and Other Operating Income 

  The Group  The Company 
  2017  2016  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

Dividend income from subsidiary  -  -  -  758,414 
Dividend income on available-for-sale investments  400  205  400  205 
Dividend income on financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss  -  18,193  -  - 

(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (4,574)  3,857  (1,340)  5,766 
Gain on sale of financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss  -  360,140  -  - 

Interest income from subsidiaries  -  -  -  345,757 
Other interest income   352,789  384,165  347,690  364,423 
Management fees  248,927  52,465  71,500  52,465 
Net foreign exchange (losses)/gains  (36,409)  135,480  (50,758)  139,349 
Rental income  50,725  10,971  21,640  10,971 
Other  141,245  86,143  4,131  4,818 
  753,103  1,051,619  393,263  1,682,168 

 
7. Expenses by Nature 

Total direct, selling, administration and other operating expenses: 
  The Group  The Company 
  2017  2016  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

Advertising and promotion  163,477  166,452  21,526  13,354 
Amortisation of intangible assets  1,694  2,540  -  - 
Auditors' remuneration  23,071  21,562  6,249  5,980 
Bad debt expense, net of recoveries  14,212  63,766  -  977 
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense  9,024,547  8,750,336  -  - 
Delivery charges  171,191  161,211  393  - 
Depreciation  478,222  488,545  32,435  28,757 
Donations  36,886  31,247  36,886  31,247 
Feed, chemicals and veterinary supplies  545,629  461,794  -  - 
Fertilising  7,599  11,057  -  - 
Impairment of investment in subsidiary  -  -  568,822  - 
Insurance  179,294  183,881  20,393  18,691 
Motor vehicle expenses  64,814  62,628  11,264  13,292 
Non-recoverable GCT  270,463  196,711  61,410  - 
Professional services  119,526  146,889  89,259  77,850 
Raw and packaging material  622,678  659,462  -  - 
Repairs and maintenance  399,657  560,532  37,566  46,284 
Security  187,289  174,316  33,149  26,142 
Staff costs (Note 8)  2,147,023  1,909,875  469,997  490,223 
Supplies  23,029  78,453  429  - 
Utilities  707,784  583,892  36,199  24,561 
Other  745,255  529,671  87,989  61,541 
  15,933,340  15,244,820  1,513,966  838,899 
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8. Staff Costs 

  The Group  The Company 
  2017  2016  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

Wages and salaries  1,625,313  1,416,641  336,656  332,811 
Statutory contributions  173,156  151,683  33,925  35,041 
Pension – defined benefit (Note 20)  10,600  27,000  10,600  27,000 
Pension – defined contribution (Note 20)  32,302  31,494  8,142  10,103 
Pension – defined contribution (Note 20)  2,722  850  -  - 
Other post-employment benefits (Note 20)  12,700  12,300  12,700  12,300 
Other  290,230  269,907  67,974  72,968 
  2,147,023  1,909,875  469,997  490,223 

 
9. Finance Costs 

  The Group  The Company 
  2017  2016  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

Foreign exchange (gains)/losses  (4,263)  130,362  -  - 
Interest expense –          
 Long term loans  265,926  195,172  184,433  177,999 
 Other  62,349  43,896  6,020  7,590 
Amortisation of deferred financing fees  13,761  5,201  -  - 
  337,773  374,631  190,453  185,589 
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10. Taxation Expense 

Taxation is based on the profit for the year adjusted for tax purposes and comprises income tax at 25%.  
   The Group  The Company 
  2017  2016  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

Current taxation  244,469  303,284  -  97,000 
Adjustment to prior year provision  (3,536)  115  (1,409)  115 
  240,933  303,399  (1,409)  97,115 
Deferred taxation (Note 28)  50,184  7,316  54,491  53,971 
  291,117  310,715  53,082  151,086 

 
The tax on the Group’s and the Company’s profits differ from the theoretical amounts that would arise using the applicable tax rate 
as follows:  

  The Group  The Company 
  2017  2016  2017  2016 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Profit/(loss) before taxation 938,960 1,185,924 (464,168) 1,396,125 

     
Tax calculated at a tax rate of 25%  234,742 296,481 (116,042) 349,031 
Adjusted for the effect of:      

Investment income not subject to tax  - (124,726) - (34,837) 
Adjustment to prior year provision  (3,536) 115 (1,409) 115 
Employment tax credit  (61,854) (64,926) - - 
Profit of subsidiaries not subject to tax  - 5,777 - - 
Expenses not deductible  29,124 36,000 165,762 31,867 
Loss of joint venture included net of tax  13,559 7,040 - - 
Tax losses of subsidiaries for which no deferred tax 

assets have been created   75,757 163,061 - - 

Income taxed at different rates  - (5,748) - (195,351) 
Other charges and credits  3,325 (2,359) 4,771 261 

  291,117 310,715 53,082 151,086 
 
A subsidiary is granted relief from taxation as Approved Farmers, under Section 36D of the Income Tax Act 1982, for a period of 10 
years commencing in the year of assessment 2008.  Consequently, profits of the subsidiary amounting to $37,051,000 (2016 – 
$16,870,000) were not subject to tax. 
 
Tax charge relating to components of other comprehensive income are as follows: 

  The Group & The Company 
  Before Tax  Tax Effect After Tax 
  $'000  $'000 $'000 
  2017 

Re-measurements of post-employment benefit obligations  4,200  (1,050) 3,150 
Fair value losses – Available-for-sale financial assets  (126,345)  - (126,345) 
Other comprehensive income  (122,145)  (1,050) (123,195) 

  2016 
Re-measurements of post-employment benefit obligations  222,300  (55,575) 166,725 
Fair value losses – Available-for-sale financial assets  (132,385)  - (132,385) 
Other comprehensive income  89,915  (55,575) 34,340 
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11. Net Profit Attributable to Stockholders of the Company 

Dealt with as follows in the financial statements: 
      2017  2016 
      $'000  $'000 

The Company      (517,250)  1,245,039 
Reversal of impairment of subsidiary on consolidation      568,822  - 
Dividend income from subsidiaries      -  (758,414) 
      51,572  486,625 
Subsidiaries      737,707  633,579 
Joint venture      (54,236)  (28,161) 
      735,043  1,092,043 

 
12. Earnings per Stock Unit Attributable to Stockholders of the Company 

Earnings per stock unit is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to stockholders by the weighted average number of 
ordinary stock units in issue.  

      2017  2016 
Net profit attributable to stockholders ($’000)      735,043  1,092,043 
Weighted average number of ordinary stock units (‘000)      516,339  516,339 
Basic earnings per stock unit ($)      1.42  2.11 

 
The Company has no dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
 

13. Dividends 

      2017  2016 
      $'000  $'000 

Interim dividends –          
60 cents per stock unit – 8 July 2016      -  309,839 
263 cents per stock unit – 7 November 2016      -  1,358,128 
60 cents per stock unit – 14 July 2017      309,839  - 
35 cents per stock unit – 6 December 2017      180,739  - 
      490,578  1,667,967 
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment 

 The Group 

                      
Freehold   

 Land & Site  
Improvements  Buildings  

Plant,  
Equipment   

 & Furniture   
Motor  

Vehicles  
Work in  

Progress   Total   
 $'000   $'000  $'000   $'000   $'000   $'000 
 2017 
 Cost -       
  At 1 January 2017 658,165 1,603,516 5,044,228 387,908 96,467 7,790,284 
  Additions 54,910 13,380 245,385 7,438 153,134 474,247 
  Disposals - (45,394) (64,210) (1,857) - (111,461) 
  Write-offs/Adjustments - - (1,513) - (156) (1,669) 
  Transfers  - 14,735 55,489 6,917 (77,141) - 
  At 31 December 2017 713,075 1,586,237 5,279,379 400,406 172,304 8,151,401 
 Accumulated Depreciation -       
  At 1 January 2017 - 596,772 2,761,228 315,997 - 3,673,997 
  Charge for the year - 33,451 407,124 37,647 - 478,222 

On disposals - (41,375) (58,098) (1,857) - (101,330) 
Write-offs/Adjustments - - (1,357) - - (1,357) 

  At 31 December 2017 - 588,848 3,108,897 351,787 - 4,049,532 
 Net Book Value -       
  At 31 December 2017 713,075 997,389 2,170,482 48,619 172,304 4,101,869 

  
 2016 
 Cost -       
  At 1 January 2016 616,165 1,255,163 4,558,979 415,180 380,297 7,225,784 
  Additions 42,000 167,646 280,924 7,071 210,823 708,464 
  Disposals - (8,533) (98,961) (34,343) - (141,837) 
  Write-offs/Adjustments - - (364) - (1,763) (2,127) 
  Transfers  - 189,240 303,650 - (492,890) - 
  At 31 December 2016 658,165 1,603,516 5,044,228 387,908 96,467 7,790,284 
 Accumulated Depreciation -       
  At 1 January 2016 - 572,525 2,446,726 299,496 - 3,318,747 
  Charge for the year - 31,082 408,231 49,232 - 488,545 

On disposals - (6,835) (93,729) (32,731) - (133,295) 
  At 31 December 2016 - 596,772 2,761,228 315,997 - 3,673,997 
 Net Book Value -       
  At 31 December 2016 658,165 1,006,744 2,283,000 71,911 96,467 4,116,287 
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 
 
  The Company 

                       
Freehold   

 Land & Site  
Improvements  Buildings  

Plant,  
Equipment   

 & Furniture   
Motor  

Vehicles  
Work in  

Progress   Total   
  $'000   $'000  $'000   $'000   $'000   $'000 

  2017 

 Cost -        
  At 1 January 2017  108,289 525,839 176,169 36,324 15,339 861,960 
  Additions  54,910 6,187 22,885 - 22,896 106,878 
  Disposals  - (39,513) (5,305) - - (44,818) 
  Transfers   - 13,237 12,278 - (25,515) - 

  At 31 December 2017  163,199 505,750 206,027 36,324 12,720 924,020 

 Accumulated Depreciation -        
  At 1 January 2017  - 249,816 134,088 23,889 - 407,793 
  Charge for the year  - 8,428 16,032 7,975 - 32,435 
  Relieved on disposals  - (38,174) (5,304) - - (43,478) 

  At 31 December 2017  - 220,070 144,816 31,864 - 396,750 

 Net Book Value -        
  At 31 December 2017  163,199 285,680 61,211 4,460 12,720 527,270 

   
  2016 

 Cost -       
  At 1 January 2016  66,289 383,576 160,634 50,945 433 661,877 
  Additions  42,000 149,027 4,290 6,155 27,292 228,764 
  Disposals  - (6,764) - (20,776) - (27,540) 
  Write-off  - - - - (1,141) (1,141) 
  Transfers   - - 11,245 - (11,245) - 

  At 31 December 2016  108,289 525,839 176,169 36,324 15,339 861,960 

 Accumulated Depreciation -        
  At 1 January 2016  - 248,934 121,634 33,663 - 404,231 
  Charge for the year  - 6,912 12,454 9,390 - 28,756 
  Relieved on disposals  - (6,030) - (19,164) - (25,194) 

  At 31 December 2016  - 249,816 134,088 23,889 - 407,793 

 Net Book Value -        
  At 31 December 2016  108,289 276,023 42,081 12,435 15,339 454,167 

 
Certain of the Group’s property, plant and equipment have been pledged as security for its borrowings (Note 27). 
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15. Financial Instruments 

  The Group  The Company 
    Restated    Restated 
  2017  2016  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
Financial Assets         
Available-for-sale, at fair value (Note 17)  1,369,574  1,495,919  1,429,171  1,495,919 
Loans and receivables, at cost or amortised cost –          
 Long term receivables (Note 19)  3,730,858  3,620,361  3,573,361  3,479,170 
 Trade and other receivables   5,782,616  3,680,904  3,764,312  2,032,860 
 Due from subsidiaries  -  -  992,677  4,325,913 
 Short term deposits  -  153,906  -  - 
 Cash and bank balances  837,294  667,505  477,304  300,382 
  10,350,768  8,122,676  8,807,654  10,138,325 
  11,720,342  9,618,595  10,236,825  11,634,244 

Financial Liabilities         
At cost or amortised cost –          
 Due to subsidiaries  -  -  5,272,290  2,751,240 
 Trade and other payables  6,302,272  4,048,652  2,033,097  1,981,741 
 Long term liabilities (Note 27)  3,729,508  3,428,497  2,909,169  2,391,243 
  10,031,780  7,477,149  10,214,556  7,124,224 

      
16. Intangible Assets 

Intangible assets comprise brands acquired by the Group, and are amortised over their estimated useful lives of 10 years. 
Amortisation of intangible is included in administration and other operating expenses in the statement of comprehensive income. 
The carrying value of intangible assets was determined as follows: 

    The Group 
      2017  2016 
      $'000  $'000 

Fair value of brands on acquisition      73,407  73,407 
Less: Accumulated amortisation      (73,407)  (71,713) 

      -  1,694 
  

17. Available-for-Sale Investments  

Available-for-sale financial statements comprise the following: 
   The Group & The Company 
      Restated  Restated 
    2017  2016  2015 
    $'000  $'000  $'000 

Equity securities denominated in Jamaican dollars    40  40  40 
Equity securities denominated in US dollars    1,369,534  1,495,879  1,628,264 

    1,369,574  1,495,919  1,628,304 
  
Equity securities denominated in US dollars  
The Company owns 42,214 ordinary shares (10.3%) (2015 and 2016 – 9.65%) and 20,486 preference shares (34.1%) in Facey 
Group Limited, a related company over which the Company does not exercise significant influence.  As the shares are unlisted, fair 
values were determined using cash flows discounted using a rate based on market interest rate and a risk premium specific to the 
unlisted security of 12% (2016 – 12%). 
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18. Investment in Subsidiaries and Joint Venture 

Investment in subsidiaries 
       2017 2016 
       $’000   $’000  

Balance at 1 January       1,398,010  1,398,107 
Capitalisation of subsidiary       4,000,000  - 
Impairment of subsidiary       (568,822)  - 
Disposal of subsidiary (Note 33)       -  (97) 
Balance at 31 December       4,829,188  1,398,010 

 
All subsidiary undertakings are included in the consolidation. The proportion of the voting rights in the subsidiary undertakings 
held directly by the parent Company do not differ from the proportion of ordinary shares held. 
 
During 2016, the group wound up the activities of a wholly owned subsidiary, Xaymaca Limited, that was dormant at the time of 
winding up. 
 
Effective 1 January 2017, the Company further capitalised Golden Grove Sugar Company Limited by $4 billion using intercompany 
balances owed to the Company by the subsidiary. The Company recorded an impairment charge of $569 million in relation to this 
subsidiary during the year. 
 
The total non-controlling interest for the year of ($87,200,000) (2016 – ($216,834,000)) is entirely attributable to Golden Grove 
Sugar Company Limited. Summarised financial information for Golden Grove Sugar Company Limited, before intercompany 
eliminations, is as follows: 
Summarised statement of comprehensive income       

      2017 2016 
       $’000   $’000  

Revenue       1,382,775  1,310,500 
Depreciation       (141,538)  (151,968) 
Interest on intercompany balances owed to the Company       -  (345,757) 
Net loss       (302,777)  (752,372) 

 
Summarised statement of financial position       

      2017 2016 
       $’000   $’000  

Non-current assets       982,902  1,090,760 
Current assets       984,027  1,079,260 
Non-current liabilities       (292,917)  (651,383) 
Intercompany balance owed to the Company       (262,681)  (3,918,886) 
Other current liabilities       (379,539)  (225,017) 
Net Assets/(Liabilities)       1,031,792  (2,625,266) 

 
Summarised statement of cash flows       

       2017 2016 
       $’000   $’000  

Cash flows from operating activities       (119,142)  (197,973) 
Cash flows from investing activities       133,495  (84,802) 
Intercompany financing provided by the Company  303,634  809,449 
Other cash flows from financing activities       (317,943)  (517,716) 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year       18,683  18,903 
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18. Investment in Subsidiaries and Joint Venture (Continued) 
 

Investment in joint venture 
The Group owns 50% of Jamaica Grain and Cereals Limited, a former subsidiary that manufactures and sells corn and wheat 
products and cereals. The carrying value of the investment approximates 50% of the carrying value of the net assets of the joint 
venture entity. 
 
The movement in investment in joint venture is as follows: 

            The Group  The Company 
  2017  2016  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

Balance at the beginning of the year  399,242  427,403  434,114  434,114 
Share of loss  (54,236)  (28,161)  -  - 
Balance at the end of the year  345,006  399,242  434,114  434,114 

 
The summarised financial information for the joint venture is as follows: 
Summarised statement of comprehensive income 

         2017 
$’000  2016 

$’000 
Revenue         953,965  798,637 
Depreciation         31,679  13,480 
Net loss         (108,472)  (56,323) 

 
Summarised statement of financial position 

                2017 
$’000  2016 

$’000 
Non-current assets:            
 Property, plant and equipment         3,121,230  1,866,587 
 Deferred tax assets         37,580  1,480 
         3,158,810  1,868,067 
Current assets:            
 Inventories         318,254  99,907 
 Cash and cash equivalents         143,677  208,838 
 Other current assets         205,512  72,500 
         667,443  381,245 
Current liabilities:            
 Due to joint venture partners         (1,171,725)  (1,386,454) 
 Bank loan         (1,875,006)  - 
 Payables         (95,257)  (70,121) 
         (3,141,988)  (1,456,575) 
Net assets         684,265  792,737 

 
Summarised statement of cash flows 

    2017 
$’000  2016 

$’000 
Cash flows from operating activities    (710,240)  1,915,850 
Cash flows from investing activities    (1,296,246)  (1,746,429) 
Cash flows from financing activities    1,925,253  - 

 
  

Seprod Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2017
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 7MADE BY SEPROD, MUST BE GOOD 100

F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S



Page 40  

Seprod Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2017 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 

19. Long Term Receivables 

  The Group  The Company 
  2017  2016  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
(a) Musson (Jamaica) Limited  188,565  240,366  188,565  240,366 
(b) Facey Commodity Company Limited  346,102  356,945  346,102  356,945 
(c) Facey Group Limited  559,756  577,293  559,756  577,293 
(d) Musson International Dairies Limited  1,964,343  2,025,888  1,964,343  2,025,888 
(e) Bercyn Farms Limited –          
 (i)    Mobilisation loan for farming operations  26,757  27,757  -  - 
 (ii)  Advance for replanting and farming operations  129,399  112,448  -  - 
 (iii)  Other  -  350  -  - 
  3,214,922  3,341,047  3,058,766  3,200,492 
Interest receivable  515,936  279,314  514,595  278,678 
  3,730,858    3,620,361  3,573,361  3,479,170 
Less: Current portion  (1,487,134)  (76,439)  (1,468,012)  (47,696) 
  2,243,724  3,543,922  2,105,349  3,431,474 

 
(a) This related party receivable is due in equal monthly installments of US$30,000 with the remaining principal receivable in full 

on 31 January 2020. The agreement attracts interest of 9% per annum. 
 
(b) This related party receivable of US$2,800,000 is repayable on maturity at 31 December 2018. The agreement attracts interest 

of 10% per annum, payable monthly. 
 
(c) This related party receivable of US$4,533,000 is repayable on maturity at 31 December 2018. The agreement attracts interest 

of 10% per annum, payable monthly. 
 
(d) This related party receivable of US$15,892,000 is repayable on maturity at 23 September 2020. The agreement attracts interest 

of 12% per annum, payable monthly. 
 
(e) (i) This loan was granted as part of the farm management contract for Golden Grove Sugar Company Limited. The principal 

of $40,000,000 is repayable in periodic discretionary installments until maturity in November 2019. The agreement 
attracts interest of 10% per annum. 

 
 (ii) This represents advances in respect of the 2016/2017 crop, as well as balance receivable from the sale of spares, farming 

equipment and other supplies. In the prior year, the amounts were repayable in 3 installments as follows: $22,618,000 in 
2017 and two payments of $44,915,000 each in 2018 and 2019. The agreement was renegotiated during the year to be 
payable in 6 installments and due by November 2020. The agreement does not attract interest. 

 
 (iii) This represents a balance receivable from the sale of spares, farming equipment and other supplies. The balance was 

repayable in 14 instalments totalling $11,084,000 per year until maturity in November 2017.  
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20. Post-employment Benefits 

    The Group & 
The Company 

      2017  2016 
      $'000  $'000 

Asset/(Liability) recognised in the statement of financial position –      
Pension scheme      38,500  40,300 
Medical benefits      (148,400)  (143,000) 

Expense recognised in profit or loss –          
Pension scheme      10,600  27,000 
Medical benefits      12,700  12,300 

Gains/(losses) recognised in other comprehensive income –         
Pension scheme      6,800  207,500 
Medical benefits      (2,600)  14,800 

 
Pension schemes 
In addition to the defined benefit pension scheme described below, employees of the Group hired on or after 1 January 2002 participate 
in an Individual Retirement Scheme operated by an independent insurance company.  Employees participating in the scheme 
contribute up to 15% of pensionable earnings while the Company contributes 5%. The Group’s and the Company’s contribution for the 
year amounted to $32,302,000 (2016 – $31,494,000) and $8,142,000 (2016 – $10,103,000), respectively (Note 8). 
 
On 1 January 2015, the fortnightly sugarcane employees of Golden Grove Sugar Company Limited commenced contributing to a defined 
contribution pension scheme. The pension scheme is administered by an independent insurance company. The subsidiary contributes 
2% of the employee’s basic salary.  The subsidiary’s contribution for the year amounted to $2,722,000 (2016 – $850,000). 
 
Defined benefit plan  
The Group operates a defined benefit scheme for employees hired prior to 1 January 2002.  The scheme is administered by NCB 
Insurance Company Limited. The plan provides benefits to members based on average earnings for the final year of service, with the 
Group and employees each contributing 5% of pensionable salaries. Employee may contribute additional voluntary contribution up to 
5%. The scheme was closed to new members as at 31 December 2001.  As the subsidiaries make fixed contributions to the pension 
scheme and have no further legal or constructive obligations under the scheme, the pension asset and obligations are accounted for in 
the financial statements of the Company.  The subsidiaries recognise a cost equal to their contributions payable in respect of each 
accounting period in profit or loss. Any plan surplus or funding deficiency is absorbed by the Company.   
 
The defined benefit plan is valued by independent actuaries annually using the Projected Unit Credit Method. The latest actuarial 
valuation was carried out as at 31 December 2017.   
 
The Board of the pension fund is composed of an equal number of representatives from both employer and employees. The Board of 
the fund is responsible for the investment policy with regard to the assets of the fund.  The funds are managed by NCB Insurance 
Company Limited which administers the Fund and manages the investment portfolio under management agreement. 
 
The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are determined as follows: 

      2017 
$’000  2016 

$’000 
Present value of funded obligations   (921,200)  (896,700) 
Fair value of plan assets   994,000  957,300 
Liability in the statement of financial position   72,800  60,600 
Unrecognised asset due to limitation  (34,300)  (20,300) 
   38,500  40,300 
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20.  Post-employment Benefits (Continued) 
 

Pension schemes (continued) 
The movement in the amounts recognised in the statement of financial position is as follows: 

      2017 
$’000  2016 

$’000 
Asset/(liability) at beginning of year   40,300  (142,800) 
Amounts recognised in profit or loss in the  statement of comprehensive income  (10,600)  (27,000) 
Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income   6,800  207,500 
Contributions paid  2,000  2,600 
Asset at end of year   38,500  40,300 

 
The movement in the defined benefit obligation over the year is as follows: 

   2017 
$’000  2016 

$’000  
Balance at beginning of year   (896,700)  (993,900) 
Current service cost   (10,700)  (13,700) 
Interest cost   (76,500)  (83,700) 
Re-measurements – experience (losses)/gains   (54,800)  147,100 
Members’ contributions   (3,200)  (4,500) 
Benefits paid   120,700  52,000 
Balance at end of year   (921,200)  (896,700) 

 
As at the last valuation date, the present value of the defined benefit obligation was comprised of approximately $175,100,000  
(2016 – $349,700,000) relating to active employees, and $746,100,000 (2016 – $547,000,000) relating to members in retirement. 
 
The movement in the defined benefit asset during the year is as follows: 

   2017 
$’000  2016 

$’000  
Balance at beginning of year   957,300  851,100 
Interest income   78,300  70,400 
Re-measurement – return on plan assets, excluding amounts 

included in interest income   73,900  80,700 

Employer’s contributions   2,000  2,600 
Members’ contributions   3,200  4,500 
Benefits paid   (120,700)  (52,000) 
Balance at end of year   994,000  957,300 

 
The amounts recognised in profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income is as follows: 

   2017 
$’000  2016 

$’000 
Current service cost   10,700  13,700 
Interest costs   76,500  83,700 
Interest income   (78,300)  (70,400) 
Interest on effect of unrecognised asset due to limitation   1,800  - 
Total, included in staff costs (Note 8)   10,600  27,000 

 
Expected employer contributions to the post-employment pension plan for the year ending 31 December 2018 amount to 
$2,000,000.  
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20.  Post-employment Benefits (Continued) 
 

Pension schemes (continued) 
Plan assets are comprised as follows: 

 Quoted  Unquoted  Total   
 $’000  $’000  $’000  % 
 2017 

Debt securities:        
 Government of Jamaica -  256,452  256,452  25.8 
 Corporate -  93,436  93,436  9.4 
Real estate -  73,556  73,556  7.4 
Equity securities  332,990  -  332,990  33.5 
Preference shares 70,574  -  79,574  7.1 
Repurchase agreements -  95,424  95,424  9.6 
Other -  71,568  71,568  7.2 
 403,564  590,436  994,000  100 
  
 2016 
Debt securities:        
 Government of Jamaica -  285,378  285,378  29.8 
 Corporate -  43,858  43,858  4.6 
Real estate -  71,262  71,262  7.4 
Equity securities  314,787  -  314,787  32.9 
Preference shares 55,329  -  55,329  5.8 
Repurchase agreement -  113,282  113,282  11.8 
Other -  73,435  73,404  7.7 
 370,116  587,215  957,300  100 

 
At 31 December, the fund had investments with a fair value of $55,759,000 (2016 - $53,600,000) in the Company’s own shares held 
as plan assets. 
 
The significant actuarial assumptions used were a discount rate of 8.0% (2016 – 9.0%); future salary increases of 5.0%  
(2016 – 6.0%); and future pension increases of 2.25% (2016 – 2.5%). The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in 
the weighted principal assumptions is: 

  2017  2016 

 Change in 
Assumption 

Increase in 
Assumption  Decrease in 

Assumption  Increase in 
Assumption  Decrease in 

Assumption 
  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Discount rate         1% (83,800)  101,900  (78,800)  94,200 
Future salary increases        1% 7,900  (7,100)  8,100  (7,900) 
Expected pension increase        1% 93,100  (78,300)  83,300  (86,700) 

 
Further, assumptions regarding future mortality are set based on actuarial advice in accordance with published statistics and 
experience. These assumptions translate into an average life expectancy in years for a pensioner retiring at age 60. If the assumption 
for life expectancy was increased/(decreased) by 1 year, the effect on the defined benefit obligation would be an 
increase/(decrease) of $17,200,000/($14,700,000) (2016 – $14,100,000/($14,700,000)). 
 
The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, 
this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined 
benefit obligation to significant actuarial assumptions the same method (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated 
with the projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the pension liability 
recognised within the statement of financial position. The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity 
analysis did not change compared to the previous period. 
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20.  Post-employment Benefits (Continued) 
 

Other post-employment benefits 
In addition to pension benefits, the Company offers retirees medical and life insurance benefits that contribute to the health care 
and life insurance coverage of employees and beneficiaries after retirement.  The obligations under the medical benefit scheme are 
unfunded. The method of accounting and frequency of valuations are similar to those used for the pension scheme. Obligations 
under the medical scheme are payable by, and accounted for, by the Company as the subsidiaries do not have any legal or 
constructive obligations under the scheme. 
  
The movement in the defined benefit obligation over the year is as follows: 

   2017 
$’000  2016 

$’000  
Balance at beginning of year   (143,000)  (155,100) 
Current service cost   (300)  (300) 
Interest expense   (12,400)  (12,000) 
Re-measurements – experience (losses)/gains   (2,600)  14,800   
Benefits paid   9,900  9,600 
Balance at end of year   (148,400)  (143,000) 

 
The amounts recognised in the profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income are as follows: 

   2017 
$’000  2016 

$’000  
Current service cost   300  300 
Interest cost   12,400  12,000 
Total, included in staff costs  (Note 8)    12,700  12,300 

 
The movement in the amounts recognised in the statement of financial position is as follows: 

   2017 
$’000  2016 

$’000  
Liability at beginning of year   143,000  155,100 
Amounts recognised in the profit or loss in the statement of 

comprehensive income (Note 8)   12,700  12,300 
Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income   2,600  (14,800) 
Contributions by employer   (9,900)  (9,600) 
Liability at end of year   148,400  143,000 

 
Expected employer contributions to the post-employment plan for the year ending 31 December 2018 amount to $10,000,000.  
 
In addition to the assumptions used for pension schemes, the main actuarial assumption is long-term increase in health cost of 7.5% 
(2016 – 8.5%) per annum. The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the weighted principal assumptions is: 

  2017  2016 

 Change in 
Assumption 

Increase in 
Assumption  Decrease in 

Assumption  Increase in 
Assumption  Decrease in 

Assumption 
  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Discount rate 0.5% (2016 – 1%) (7,100)  7,700  (19,000)  4,600 
Medical cost        0.5% (2016 – 1%) 7,700  (7,100)  4,600  (19,000) 

 
Further, if the assumption for life expectancy was increased/(decreased) by 1 year, the effect on the defined benefit obligation 
would be an increase/(decrease) of $6,600,000/($6,400,000) (2016 – $5,800,000/($18,200,000)). 
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20.  Post-employment Benefits (Continued) 
 

Risks associated with pension plans and post-employment plans 
Through its defined benefit pension plans and post-employment medical plans, the Company is exposed to a number of risks, the 
most significant of which are detailed below: 
 
Asset volatility 
The plan liabilities are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to Government of Jamaica bond yields. If plan assets 
underperform this yield, this will create a deficit. As the plan matures, the Company intends to reduce the level of investment risk 
by investing more in assets that better match the liabilities. The Company believes that, due to the long-term nature of the plan 
liabilities, a level of continuing equity investment is an appropriate element of the Company’s long term strategy to manage the 
plans efficiently. See below for more details on the Company’s asset-liability matching strategy. 
 
Changes in bond yields 
A decrease in Government of Jamaica bond yields will increase plan liabilities, although this will be partially offset by an increase in 
the value of the plans’ bond holdings. 
 
Inflation risk 
Higher inflation will lead to higher liabilities. The majority of the plan’s assets are either unaffected by fixed interest bonds; meaning 
that an increase in inflation will reduce the surplus or create a deficit. 
 
Life expectancy 
The majority of the plan’s obligations are to provide benefits for the life of the member, so increases in life expectancy will result in 
an increase in the plan’s liabilities. This is particularly significant, where inflationary increases result in higher sensitivity to changes 
in life expectancy. 
 
The responsibility for the management of the assets of the Fund is vested in the Board of Trustees and NCB Insurance Company 
Limited representatives who are the fund and investment managers. They ensure that the investment positions are managed within 
an asset-liability matching (ALM) framework that has been developed to achieve long-term investments that are in line with the 
obligations under the pension fund. Within this framework, the Fund’s ALM objective is to match assets to the pension obligations 
by investing in long-term fixed interest securities with maturities that match the benefit payments as they fall due. The Fund actively 
monitors how the duration and the expected yield of the investments are matching the expected cash outflows arising from the 
pension obligations. The Fund has not changed the processes used to manage its risks from previous periods. The Fund does not 
use derivatives to manage its risk. Investments are well diversified, such that the failure of any single investment would not have a 
material impact on the overall level of assets. 
 
Funding levels are monitored on an annual basis and the current agreed contribution rate is 5% of pensionable salaries. The next 
triennial valuation is due to be completed as at 31 August 2020. The Company considers that the contribution rates set at the last 
valuation date to be sufficient to prevent a deficit and that regular contributions, which are based on service costs, will not increase 
significantly. 
 
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 10.6 years for the both the pension fund and for the post-
employment medical benefits. 
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21. Biological Assets 

Livestock – classified as non-current assets in the statement of financial position 
  The Group 
  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000 

Dairy livestock –      
 2,700 (2016 – 2,486) Cows able to produce milk  148,692  100,866 
 2,103 (2016 – 2,446) Heifers being raised to produce milk in the future  140,766  132,924 
Other livestock –      

144 (2016 – 46) Bulls raised for sale and reproduction  3,050  2,433 
4 (2016 – 4) Horses  120  120 

  292,628  236,343 
 
7,223,412 litres (2016 – 6,787,124 litres) of milk with a fair value (less estimated point-of-sale costs) of $614,068,000  
(2016 – $559,938,000) were produced during the period. 
 
Sugar cane – classified as current assets in the statement of financial position 

  The Group 
  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000 

96,104 tonnes (2016 – 94,104 tonnes)  508,745  513,198 
 
16,789 tonnes (2016 – 18,363 tonnes) of sugar and molasses with a fair value (less estimated point-of-sale costs) of $1,154,055,000 
(2016 – $1,126,714,000) were produced during the period. 

 
22. Inventories 

  The Group 
  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000 

Raw and packaging materials  1,099,904  1,201,390 
Work in progress  33,243  53,570 
Finished goods  242,201  134,047 
Merchandise for resale  186,516  246,213 
Goods in transit  610,899  122,145 
Other  322,300  172,903 

  2,495,063  1,930,268 
 
The cost of inventories recognised as write-offs and included in direct expenses amounted to $32,866,000 (2016 - $6,607,000). 
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23. Trade and Other Receivables 

  The Group  The Company 
  2017  2016  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
Trade receivables  1,367,616  1,385,519  -  3,619 
Less: Provision for impairment  (128,524)  (110,705)  -  (3,619) 
  1,239,092  1,274,814  -  - 
Advances and prepayments  183,547  195,911  54,166  65,816 
Due from affiliates  4,543,524  2,406,090  3,764,312  2,032,860 
Other  209,488  115,095  -  - 
  6,175,651  3,991,910  3,818,478  2,098,676 

 
24. Payables 

  The Group  The Company 
  2017  2016  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
Trade payables  1,921,358  1,640,404  -  - 
Accruals  505,235  419,827  234,870  138,367 
Due to affiliates  4,169,943  2,103,555  1,854,836  1,743,364 
Other  210,971  304,693  178,261  238,377 
  6,807,507  4,468,479  2,267,967  2,120,108 

 
25. Share Capital 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 
  '000  '000  $'000  $'000 
Authorised – ordinary shares  530,000  530,000  530,000  530,000 

Issued and fully paid –          
 Ordinary stock units  516,398  516,398  561,287  561,287 
 Treasury shares  (59)  (59)  (899)  (899) 
  516,339  516,339  560,388  560,388 

 
In 2013 the Company purchased 59,000 of its shares at a fair value of $899,000. There were no stock purchases during the year. 
 

26. Capital Reserves 

   The Group 
      Restated 
    2017  2016 
    $'000  $'000 
Revaluation surplus on assets carried at deemed cost    312,600  312,600 
Fair value gains on available-for-sale investments    136,862  263,207 
Profits of subsidiaries capitalised    336,537  336,537 
Redemption reserve    14,800  14,800 
Realised gains on sale of investments    120,855  120,855 
Other realised surplus    22,230  22,230 
    943,884  1,070,229 
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26.  Capital Reserves (Continued) 
 

    The Company 
      Restated 
    2017  2016 
    $'000  $'000 
Revaluation surplus on assets carried at deemed cost    105,340  105,340 
Fair value gains on available-for-sale investments    136,862  263,207 
Realised gains on sale of investments    120,855  120,855 
Other realised surplus    20,289  20,289 
    383,346  509,691 

 
Included in capital reserves are fair value gains on available-for-sale investments representing the accumulated unrealised gains 
and losses on the revaluation of these investments. The movement in this reserve during the year is recognised in other 
comprehensive income. 

 
27. Long Term Liabilities 

  The Group  The Company 
  2017  2016  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
(a) Tetra Pak – 8%  217,181  253,265  -  - 
(b) Tetra Pak – 7.81%  51,746  -  -  - 
(c) Sugar Industry Authority – 5%  22,296  25,346  -  - 
(d) National Commercial Bank (Jamaica) Limited – 11.5% 

(2016 – 6.50%)  509,844  758,643  -  - 

(e) Bonds – WATBY+2.5%  -  600,000  -  600,000 
(f) Bonds – 8.75% for first 3 years, thereafter WATBY + 

3.75%  1,200,000  -  1,200,000  - 

(g) CIBC FirstCaribbean International Bank Jamaica 
Limited – LIBOR + 3%  686,857  705,738  686,857  705,738 

(h) CIBC FirstCaribbean International Bank Jamaica 
Limited – LIBOR + 3%  250,008  -  250,008  - 

(i) Eppley Limited – 6.5%  72,733  72,444  72,733  72,444 
(j) Coconut Industry Board – 3%  360,869  370,789  360,869  370,789 
(k) Food Ingredients Limited – Nil  -  116,860  -  116,860 
(l) National Commercial Bank (Jamaica) Limited – 12%  -  190,000  -  190,000 
(m) JMMB Merchant Bank Limited – 10%  220,000  220,000  220,000  220,000 
(n) First Global Bank – 13%  100,000  100,000  100,000  100,000 
  3,691,534  3,413,085  2,890,467  2,375,831 
Interest payable  37,974  15,412  18,702  15,412 
  3,729,508  3,428,497  2,909,169  2,391,243 
Less: Current portion  (2,012,776)  (2,182,838)  (1,709,169)  (2,012,219) 
  1,716,732  1,245,659  1,200,000  379,024 
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27.  Long Term Liabilities (Continued) 
 

(a)  US dollar denominated nancing agreement from a supplier, repayable in 32 quarterly installments of US$96,000 commencing 
in 2015 and secured by property, plant and equipment acquired under the nancing agreement. 
 

(b)  US dollar denominated nancing agreement from a supplier, repayable in 32 quarterly installments of US$18,000 commencing 
in 2017 and secured by property, plant and equipment acquired under the nancing agreement. 
 

(c)  Jamaican dollar denominated loan facility of $33,156,000 repayable over 10 years commencing in 2015 by way of annual 
deductions from proceeds of cane sales, contract work and earnings from harvesting operations, where applicable. 
 

(d)  Golden Grove Sugar Company Limited received a loan in March 2014 in two tranches – tranche A: US$4,200,000 repayable by 28 
quarterly principal payments of US$105,000 and a balloon payment of US$1,365,000 at maturity; and tranche B: US$5,800,000 
repayable by 28 quarterly principal payments of US$145,000 and a balloon payment of US$1,885,000 at maturity.  
 

              
            

 
(e)  Unsecured Jamaican dollar denominated Bonds issued in November 2015 for a period of 3 years, due in full at maturity. 

 
(f)  Unsecured Jamaican dollar denominated Bonds issued in November 2018 for a period of 5 years, due in full at maturity. 

 
(g)  US dollar denominated annual revolving loan initially received in March 2015, secured by a promissory note issued by Seprod 

Limited. 
 

(h)  US dollar denominated annual revolving loan initially received in October 2017, secured by a promissory note issued by Seprod 
Limited. 
 

(i)  Unsecured US dollar denominated insurance premium ncing repayable in 12 monthly instalments. 
 

(j)  Unsecured US dollar denominated loan received in November 2016, due in full at maturity in November 2018. 
 

(k)  US dollar denominated vendor ancing agreement, repayable in 5 quarterly installments of US$303,000 commencing May 
2016. 
 

(l)  Unsecured Jamaican dollar denominated revolving facility with each drawdown having a maximum tenor of 3 months.  
 

(m)  Unsecured Jamaican dollar denominated revolving facility with each drawdown having a maximum tenor of 3 months. 
 

(n)  Unsecured Jamaican dollar denominated revolving facility with each drawdown having a maximum tenor of 1 year. 
 
The movement in long term liabilities is as follows: 

  The Group   The Company 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

         
 342,193,2  598,210,3  794,824,3  raey fo trats ta ecnalaB  1,885,262 
 626,276,1  113,859  272,937,1  deviecer snaoL  963,512 

)713,934,1(  stnemyaper lapicnirp naoL   (728,030)   (1,125,101)  (507,289)  
)762,53(  sessol dna sniag egnahcxe ngieroF   178,328  (32,889)  47,966 

 -  102,5  167,31  )9 etoN( desitroma seef derrefeD  - 
 334,481  271,591  629,562  )9 etoN( degrahc tseretnI  177,999 

)463,342(  diap tseretnI   (193,380)   (181,143)  (176,207)  

 961,909,2  794,824,3  805,927,3  raey fo dne ta ecnalaB  2,391,243 

 
 
 

  

                    
                                     

                 

                    
                 

                    
                 

                    
                 

                    
                 

                   
                

                   
                 

                   
                 

In April 2017, this loan was refinanced as a Jamaican dollar denominated loan in the original amount of J$608,637,000 
repayable in 13 quarterly instalments of J$46,818,000 and secured by the fixed and floating assets of the subsidiary.
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27.  Long Term Liabilities (Continued) 
 

(a)  US dollar denominated nancing agreement from a supplier, repayable in 32 quarterly installments of US$96,000 commencing 
in 2015 and secured by property, plant and equipment acquired under the nancing agreement. 
 

(b)  US dollar denominated nancing agreement from a supplier, repayable in 32 quarterly installments of US$18,000 commencing 
in 2017 and secured by property, plant and equipment acquired under the nancing agreement. 
 

(c)  Jamaican dollar denominated loan facility of $33,156,000 repayable over 10 years commencing in 2015 by way of annual 
deductions from proceeds of cane sales, contract work and earnings from harvesting operations, where applicable. 
 

(d)  Golden Grove Sugar Company Limited received a loan in March 2014 in two tranches – tranche A: US$4,200,000 repayable by 28 
quarterly principal payments of US$105,000 and a balloon payment of US$1,365,000 at maturity; and tranche B: US$5,800,000 
repayable by 28 quarterly principal payments of US$145,000 and a balloon payment of US$1,885,000 at maturity.  
 

              
            

 
(e)  Unsecured Jamaican dollar denominated Bonds issued in November 2015 for a period of 3 years, due in full at maturity. 

 
(f)  Unsecured Jamaican dollar denominated Bonds issued in November 2018 for a period of 5 years, due in full at maturity. 

 
(g)  US dollar denominated annual revolving loan initially received in March 2015, secured by a promissory note issued by Seprod 

Limited. 
 

(h)  US dollar denominated annual revolving loan initially received in October 2017, secured by a promissory note issued by Seprod 
Limited. 
 

(i)  Unsecured US dollar denominated insurance premium ncing repayable in 12 monthly instalments. 
 

(j)  Unsecured US dollar denominated loan received in November 2016, due in full at maturity in November 2018. 
 

(k)  US dollar denominated vendor ancing agreement, repayable in 5 quarterly installments of US$303,000 commencing May 
2016. 
 

(l)  Unsecured Jamaican dollar denominated revolving facility with each drawdown having a maximum tenor of 3 months.  
 

(m)  Unsecured Jamaican dollar denominated revolving facility with each drawdown having a maximum tenor of 3 months. 
 

(n)  Unsecured Jamaican dollar denominated revolving facility with each drawdown having a maximum tenor of 1 year. 
 
The movement in long term liabilities is as follows: 

  The Group   The Company 

  2017  2016  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

         
 342,193,2  598,210,3  794,824,3  raey fo trats ta ecnalaB  1,885,262 
 626,276,1  113,859  272,937,1  deviecer snaoL  963,512 

)713,934,1(  stnemyaper lapicnirp naoL   (728,030)   (1,125,101)  (507,289)  
)762,53(  sessol dna sniag egnahcxe ngieroF   178,328  (32,889)  47,966 

 -  102,5  167,31  )9 etoN( desitroma seef derrefeD  - 
 334,481  271,591  629,562  )9 etoN( degrahc tseretnI  177,999 

)463,342(  diap tseretnI   (193,380)   (181,143)  (176,207)  

 961,909,2  794,824,3  805,927,3  raey fo dne ta ecnalaB  2,391,243 

 
 
 

  

                    
                                     

                 

                    
                 

                    
                 

                    
                 

                    
                 

                   
                

                   
                 

                   
                 

In April 2017, this loan was refinanced as a Jamaican dollar denominated loan in the original amount of J$608,637,000 
repayable in 13 quarterly instalments of J$46,818,000 and secured by the fixed and floating assets of the subsidiary.

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 7MADE BY SEPROD, MUST BE GOOD 110

F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S



Page 50  

Seprod Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2017 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

 

28. Deferred Taxation 

Deferred income taxes are calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using a tax rate of 25%. Deferred 
income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities.  
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised on the statement of financial position are as follows: 

  The Group  The Company 
  2017  2016  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
Deferred tax assets  19,237  20,063  -  - 
Deferred tax liabilities  (242,242)  (191,834)  (100,864)  (45,323) 
Net liabilities  (223,005)  (171,771)  (100,864)  (45,323) 

 
These amounts include deferred tax assets/liabilities to be recovered within 12 months of $3,180,000/$2,450,000  
(2016 – $108,311000/$51,351,000) for the Group, and deferred tax liabilities of $116,854,000 (2016 – $62,935,000) for the 
Company. 
 
The movement in deferred taxation is as follows: 

  The Group  The Company 
  2017  2016  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
Balance at start of year  (171,771)  (108,880)  (45,323)  64,223 
Charged to profit or loss (Note 10)  (50,184)  (7,316)  (54,491)  (53,971) 
Charged to other comprehensive income (Note 10)  (1,050)  (55,575)  (1,050)  (55,575) 
Balance at end of year  (223,005)  (171,771)  (100,864)  (45,323) 

 
The deferred tax charged to profit or loss comprises the following temporary differences: 

  The Group  The Company 
  2017  2016  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
Accelerated tax depreciation  4,709  50,576  (6,808)  (2,350) 
Post-employment benefits  2,850    6,775  2,850  6,775 
Tax losses carried forward  (1,513)  (1,890)  3,386  - 
Interest receivable  (58,960)  (58,500)  (58,960)  (58,500) 
Other  2,730  (4,277)  5,041  104 
  (50,184)  (7,316)  (54,491)  (53,971) 

 
The deferred tax liabilities in the statement of financial position comprise the following temporary differences: 

  The Group  The Company 
  2017  2016  2017  2016 
  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
Accelerated tax depreciation  (178,004)  (182,609)  (14,871)  (8,063) 
Post-employment benefits  27,475  25,675  27,475  25,675 
Tax losses carried forward  32,655  36,660  3,386  - 
Interest receivable  (128,649)  (69,689)  (128,649)  (69,689) 
Other  23,518  18,192  11,795  6,754 
  (223,005)  (171,771)  (100,864)  (45,323) 

 
Subject to agreement with the Taxpayer Audit and Assessment Department, losses available for offset against future profits of the 
Company and certain subsidiaries amount to $4,091,367,000 (2016 – $4,020,579,000). Of those losses, no deferred tax assets have 
been created in respect of $3,960,749,000 (2016 – $3,800,292,000) as the Group is uncertain of its ability to utilise those losses in 
the future.  
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29. Cash Generated from Operations 

 The Group  The Company 

 2017 
$’000  2016 

$’000  2017 
$’000  2016 

$’000 
Net profit/(loss) 647,843  875,209 (517,250) 1,245,039 
Items not affecting cash resources:      

Amortisation of intangible assets 1,694  2,540 - - 
Depreciation 478,222  488,545 32,435 28,756 
Foreign exchange losses/(gains) 52,147  (5,118) 54,261 (139,349) 
Gain on financial assets through profit or loss -  (371,126) - - 
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and 

equipment 4,574  (3,857) 1,340 (5,766) 

Property, plant and equipment written off 312  2,127 - 1,141 
Impairment of subsidiary -  - 568,822 - 
Interest income (352,789)  (384,165) (347,690) (710,180) 
Amortisation of deferred fees 13,761  5,201 - - 
Unremitted equity income in joint venture 54,236  28,161 - - 
Loss on disposal of interest in subsidiary -  - - 97 
Interest expense 328,275  239,068 190,453 185,589 
Post-employment benefits 11,400  27,100 11,400 27,100 
Dividend income (400)  (18,398) (400) (758,619) 
Taxation 291,117  310,715 53,082 151,086 
 1,530,392  1,196,002 46,453 24,894 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:      
Inventories  (564,795)  (183,807) - - 
Trade and other receivables (2,183,741)  (2,255,082) (1,719,802) (1,988,420) 
Biological assets (51,832)  11,734 - - 
Due from subsidiaries -  - (666,764) (197,072) 
Due to subsidiaries -  - 2,521,050 1,074,531 
Payables 2,339,028  2,486,689 147,859 1,185,827 
 1,069,052  1,255,536 328,796 99,760 

Taxation paid (243,421)  (372,653) (81,529) (101,182) 
Cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 825,631  882,883 247,267 (1,422) 

 
30. Contingencies and Commitments 

(a) A subsidiary has leased sugar cane lands from the Government of Jamaica for a period of 50 years with an option to renew for a 
further period of 25 years. The lease is fixed at a rate of US$53 per hectare per annum for the first 5 years, after which it will be 
renegotiated in accordance with the provisions of the lease contract.  Based on the current rate of US$60 per hectare per annum, 
the annual lease cost to the subsidiary is US$92,000. 

 
(b) At 31 December 2017, capital commitments were $251,159,000 (2016 - $58,072,000) for the Group. 
 
(c) At 31 December 2017, management had approved $Nil (2016 – approximately $64 million) for capital expenditure in respect of 

certain subsidiaries. 
 

31. Litigation, Claims, Assessments and Provisions 

The Group is subject to various claims, disputes and legal proceedings, as part of the normal course of business. Provision is made 
for such matters when, in the opinion of management and its professional advisors, it is probable that a payment will be made by 
the Group, and the amount can be reasonably estimated. In respect of claims asserted against the Group which, according to the 
principles outlined above, have not been provided for, management is of the opinion that such claims are either without merit, can 
be successfully defended or will result in exposure to the Group which is immaterial to both the financial position and results of 
operations.   
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32. Related Party Transactions 

The following transactions were carried out with or on behalf of related parties: 
 
Sales and purchases of goods and services 
Sales of $3,540,561,000 (2016 – $3,402,530,000) to and purchases of $2,282,952,000 (2016 – $819,153,000) from Musson 
(Jamaica) Limited, T.Geddes Grant (Distributors) Limited, Musson International Diaries Limited and Facey Commodity Company 
Limited occurred during the year. The Chairman of the Company’s Board of Directors is a major shareholder and Chairman of the 
Board of Directors of these entities. The resulting receivables and payables in respect of these and other transactions are included 
in Notes 23 and 24, respectively. 
 
A subsidiary paid cess of $4,574,000 (2016 – $4,438,000) based on the importation of copra-based and substitute products to 
Coconut Industry Board, a major shareholder of the Company. 
 
Key management compensation 

  2017 
$’000  2016 

$’000 
Wages and salaries 157,698  150,746 
Statutory contributions 18,309  19,149 
Other 530  530 
 176,537  170,425 

Directors’ emoluments –     
 Fees 8,479  7,499 
 Medical insurance premiums 8,429  7,559 
 Management remuneration (included above) 69,676  60,978 

 
Advances and loans 
Loans to related parties are disclosed in Note 19. Interest earned on these loans during the year amounted to $341,746,000  
(2016 – $356,950,000). 
 

33. Liquidation of Subsidiary – prior year 

Xaymaca Limited was wound up as at 31 December 2016.  The details of the entity’s net assets at liquidation date were as follows: 

    2016 
$’000 

Receivables   140 
Current assets – due from group company   2,047 
Net assets   2,187 

 
The Group’s loss on liquidation was calculated as follows: 

   2016 
$’000 

Net assets at liquidation date   97 
Net liability   43 
Loss on liquidation   140 

 
The Company’s loss on liquidation was calculated as follows: 

   2016 
$’000 

Write-off of amounts payable to group company   2,047 
Less: Write-off of the Company’s investment in subsidiary   (97) 
Less: Amount taken over by the Company   (2,090) 
Loss on liquidation    (140) 
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34. Post Balance Sheet Events 

Transfer of the former Jamaican dairy operations of Nestle Jamaica Limited into the Group 
Effective 1 January 2018, the shares of Musson Holdings Limited were transferred to the Company at a nominal cost from Musson 
(Jamaica) Limited. 
 
Musson Holdings Limited is the parent company of Musson International Dairies Limited, Musson International Dairies Trinidad 
and Tobago Limited, and Musson International Dairies Republica Dominicana SRL. In February 2016, Musson Holdings Limited 
acquired the brands associated with the Jamaican dairy operations of Nestle Jamaica Limited. On that date, Musson International 
Dairies Limited acquired the key assets comprising those dairy operations and commenced its principal activity of producing and 
selling milk-based products from the plant located in Bog Walk, St. Catherine.  Musson International Dairies Trinidad and Tobago 
Limited and Musson International Dairies Republica Dominicana SRL. were subsequently established to manage the distribution of 
the milk-based products in key export markets. The Company has been managing the operations carried out by these entities since 
inception in 2016.  
 
Announcement of the acquisition of Facey Group Limited’s consumer business 
The Company has reached an agreement pursuant to which it will acquire Facey Group Limited’s consumer business, consisting 
solely of Facey Group Limited’s distribution of consumer goods and pharmaceutical products in Jamaica. The Company’s Board of 
Directors unanimously approved the terms of the acquisition, which includes paying a mix of cash and shares to acquire the 
consumer business consistent with an independent valuation. 
 
The closing of transaction remains subject to definitive legal documentation, corporate actions and the satisfaction of customary 
closing conditions among other matters. 
 
Increase in authorised ordinary shares 
At an extraordinary general meeting of the Company on 9 April 2018, the Company’s shareholders agreed to an increase in the 
authorised ordinary shares of the Company by the creation of 250,000,000 new ordinary shares. As a result, as of that date the 
authorised shares of the Company increased from 530,000,000 ordinary shares to 780,000,000 ordinary shares. 
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35. Restatement 

The Company owns 42,214 ordinary shares and 20,486 preference shares in Facey Group Limited, a related company. The 
investment is carried as available-for-sale, with fair value and foreign exchange gains and losses reflected in capital reserves. 
 
Facey Group Limited issued additional ordinary shares in 2014 to facilitate an equity investment. Consequently, Seprod Limited’s 
percentage ownership of Facey Group Limited’s ordinary shares decreased. While the number of ordinary shares of Facey Group 
Limited owned by Seprod Limited was unchanged, the financial statements for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 were 
restated to reflect Seprod Limited’s lower percentage ownership of Facey Group Limited. 
 
There was no effect on the statement of comprehensive income and the statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 
2016. The only impact on the statement of changes in equity relates to the reduction in the capital reserves as shown in the 
statements of financial position below. The effect on the statements of financial position as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 is 
summarised as follows: 

 The Group 
 2016  2015 

 Previously 
stated 

Effect of 
restatement Restated  

Previously 
stated 

Effect of 
restatement Restated 

 $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 
Net assets        
Available-for-sale investments 1,705,475 (209,556) 1,495,919  1,837,860 (209,556) 1,628,304 
Other non-current assets 8,357,851 - 8,357,851  7,247,610 - 7,247,610 
Net current assets 702,465 - 702,465  2,903,841 - 2,903,841 
Non-current liabilities (1,580,493) - (1,580,493)  (2,045,595) - (2,045,595) 
 9,185,298 (209,556) 8,975,742  9,943,716 (209,556) 9,734,160 

Stockholders’ equity        
Capital reserves 1,279,785 (209,556) 1,070,229  1,412,170 (209,556) 1,202,614 
Other items of equity 7,905,513 - 7,905,513  8,531,546 - 8,531,546 
 9,185,298 (209,556) 8,975,742  9,943,716 (209,556) 9,734,160 

 
 The Company 
 2016  2015 

 Previously 
stated 

Effect of 
restatement Restated  

Previously 
stated 

Effect of 
restatement Restated 

 $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 
Net assets        
Available-for-sale investments 1,705,475 (209,556) 1,495,919  1,837,860 (209,556) 1,628,304 
Other non-current assets 5,758,065 - 5,758,065  4,707,482 - 4,707,482 
Net current liabilities/(assets) (115,949) - (115,949)  1,521,390 - 1,521,390 
Non-current liabilities (567,347) - (567,347)  (897,900) - (897,900) 
 6,780,244 (209,556) 6,570,688  7,168,832 (209,556) 6,959,276 

Stockholders’ equity        
Capital reserves 719,247 (209,556) 509,691  851,632 (209,556) 642,076 
Other items of equity 6,060,997 - 6,060,997  6,317,200 - 6,317,200 
 6,780,244 (209,556) 6,570,688  7,168,832 (209,556) 6,959,276 

 
 
 

Seprod Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2017
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 7 MADE BY SEPROD, MUST BE GOOD115



PROXY FORM

I/WE .................................................................................................................................

of ...................................................................................................... being a member of  

Seprod Limited, hereby appoint ......................................................................................

of ......................................................................................................................................

or failing him .............................................................. of ...................................................

................................................................ as my proxy to vote for me on my behalf at the 

Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on the 17th day of September 2018, 

and at any adjournment thereof.

Signature

Note: 1) If the appointer is a corporation, this form must be under its common seal and 

under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.

 2) To be valid, this proxy must be lodged with the Secretary of the Company, 3 

Felix Fox Boulevard, Kingston, not less than 48 hours before the time appointed 

for holding the meeting.  A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

$100.00 
stamp 
to be 

affixed



NOTES






